

CSBA Sample

Board Policy

Community Relations

BP 1112(a)

MEDIA RELATIONS

Note: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice.

As part of building positive media relations, the district may consider presenting awards to media representatives who have helped support district goals and programs. See BP 1150 - Commendations and Awards. The district may also nominate journalists for CSBA's Golden Quill Award, which recognizes fair, insightful, and accurate reporting of the objectives, operations, accomplishments, challenges, and opportunities related to public schools.

The Governing Board respects the public's **desire for and** right to information and recognizes that the media significantly influence the community's understanding of school programs, **student achievement, and school safety**. In order to develop and maintain positive media relations, the Board and ~~the~~ Superintendent **desire to shall** reasonably accommodate media requests for information and ~~to~~ provide accurate, reliable, and timely information.

In conjunction with the Superintendent or designee, the Board shall periodically establish priorities and key messages for proactively communicating with the media regarding current district issues, activities, or needs.

(cf. 0400 - Comprehensive Plans)

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan)

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan)

(cf. 0510 - School Accountability Report Card)

(cf. 1100 - Communication with the Public)

(cf. 1160 - Political Processes)

Media representatives are welcome at all **public** Board meetings and shall receive meeting agendas upon request in accordance with Board policy.

(cf. 9321 - Closed Session)

(cf. 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials)

Note: Penal Code 627.2 requires all "outsiders" to register upon entering school grounds during school hours. Pursuant to Penal Code 627.1, media representatives are not defined as "outsiders." However, ~~an~~ the Attorney General **has opined opinion (95 79 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 509 58 (1996)) has opined that, pursuant to Education Code 32212, and 35160 direct school authorities to prevent interference with the orderly educational activities of the school and authorize them to** districts are authorized to prevent interference with the orderly educational activities of the school, which may include restricting media representatives in the same manner that access by the general public may be limited (e.g., registration or accompaniment by a staff member when on school grounds). ~~Therefore, if~~ **According to the Attorney General opinion, a district that** has developed a policy requiring all members of the general public, both visitors and outsiders, to register upon entering school grounds, ~~only then~~ may **similarly require** media representatives ~~also be~~

MEDIA RELATIONS (continued)

required to register before coming on campus. Although Attorney General opinions are not binding on the courts, they are generally afforded deference when there is no specific statutory or case law to the contrary. See BP/AR 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders for options regarding registration.

Although Attorney General opinions are not binding on the courts, they are generally afforded deference in the court when there is no specific statutory or case law to the contrary. The following optional paragraph is only for use only by districts that require all visitors to register upon entering school grounds, and does not apply to districts that only require outsiders to register. Districts should ensure consistency with this paragraph and see BP 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders.

Media representatives, like all other visitors, shall register immediately upon entering any school building or grounds when school is in session.

(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders)

(cf. 3515.2 - Disruptions)

Staff may provide the media with student directory information, including, but not limited to, the name of a student, school of attendance, grade level, honors, and activities, as identified in AR 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information, unless the student's parent/guardian has submitted a written request that such information not be disclosed. The district shall not release other student records or personally identifiable student information that is private or confidential as required by law, Board policy, or administrative regulation. No other access to student records or personally identifiable student information may be provided without written parent/guardian permission.

(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records)

(cf. 4119.23/4219.23/4319.23 - Unauthorized Release of Confidential/Privileged Information)

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

(cf. 5125.1 - Release of Directory Information)

(cf. 9010 - Public Statements)

(cf. 9321.1 - Closed Session Actions and Reports)

(cf. 9324 - Minutes and Recordings)

Interviewing and Photographing Students

Note: In 95 79 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 509 58 (1996), the Attorney General stated that, because students have a constitutional right to free speech, school administrators may not require prior written parental permission before allowing media representatives to interview particular students on campus. However, Education Code 48907 and 48950 and case law has held that clarify that the district may adopt reasonable provisions for the time, place, and manner in which free expression may occur within the district's jurisdiction, students may exercise that right unless the "conduct by the student, in class or out of it, which for any reason — whether it stems from time, place or type of behavior — materially disrupts school or involves substantial disorder or invasion of the rights of others." Therefore, in some circumstances (e.g., interviews during class time or interviews that identify other students by name), it may be appropriate to limit the student's ability to talk with the media on campus. Because this is a complex area of law, districts should consult with legal counsel before adopting a policy or practice that may limit students' constitutional rights.

MEDIA RELATIONS (continued)

Neither the Attorney General opinion nor case law considers the rights of media to photograph students on school grounds. However, the same concerns raised with regard to student interviews, such as a **substantial material disruption to the orderly operation of school or a substantial disorder invasion of the rights of others, including privacy rights**, may exist with regard to photos. Furthermore, it's clear that, in some cases, the publishing of a photo may affect student safety, ~~or privacy rights (e.g., such as when a student's whose attendance is concealed from a parent due to a domestic violence restraining order)~~. Districts should consult with legal counsel before adopting a policy or practice that may limit the photographing of students by the media.

The following **optional** paragraph should be revised to reflect district practice.

The district shall not impose restraints on students' right to speak freely with media representatives ~~at those times which do not disrupt a student's educational program.~~ However, interviewing and photographing of students ~~may~~ **shall** not create substantial ~~disorder~~ **disruption to the orderly operation of the school** or impinge on the rights of others ~~or safety of students~~. Therefore, ~~in order to minimize possible disruption, the district shall encourage~~ media representatives who wish to interview ~~or photograph~~ students at school ~~are strongly encouraged to make prior arrangements with the principal. At their discretion, parents/guardians may instruct their children not to communicate with media representatives.~~

(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression)

Note: Neither the Attorney General opinion nor case law considers the rights of media to photograph students on school grounds. However, the same concerns raised with regard to student interviews, such as a material disruption of school or a substantial disorder, may exist with regard to photos. Furthermore, it's clear that, in some cases, the publishing of a photo may affect student safety or privacy rights (e.g., a student whose attendance is concealed from a parent due to a domestic violence restraining order). Districts should consult with legal counsel before adopting a policy or practice that may limit the photographing of students by the media.

The following **optional** paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice.

In order to protect the privacy and safety of students, a media representative who wishes to photograph students on school grounds should make arrangements with the principal or designee.

When interviewing or photographing a special education student, he/she shall not be identified as a special education student without prior, written parent/guardian permission.

Media Communication Plan Contacts/Spokespersons

Note: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice.

In order to help develop strong relations with the media, the Superintendent or designee shall develop a proactive media communications plan. This plan may include, but not be limited

MEDIA RELATIONS (continued)

to, information related to district programs and needs, student awards, school accomplishments and events of special interest.

(cf. 0510 - School Accountability Report Card)

(cf. 1100 - Communication with the Public)

(cf. 1160 - Political Processes)

The plan shall specify **Superintendent or designee shall identify** the district's and/or site's primary media contact to whom all media inquiries shall be routed. Spokespersons designated to speak to the media on behalf of the district include the Board president, Superintendent, and public information officer, **or district communications director**. Other Board members and/or staff may be asked by the Superintendent or designee to speak to the media on a case-by-case basis, depending on their expertise on an issue **or appropriateness given a particular situation**.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide training on effective media relations to all designated spokespersons.

(cf. 9240 - Board Training)

Crisis Communications Plan

Note: The following **optional** section may be revised to reflect district practice. CSBA recommends that districts develop a crisis communications plan to help ensure that accurate and timely information is provided to **students**, parents/guardians, the community, and the media during a crisis **or natural disaster**. This crisis plan may be a separate document or may be incorporated into other safety plans such as the district's comprehensive safety plan (see AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) and/or emergency and disaster preparedness plan (see AR 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan).

The following optional section should be modified to reflect district practice.

~~During a disturbance or crisis situation, the first priority of school staff is to assure the safety of students and staff. However, the Board recognizes the need~~ **The Superintendent or designee shall develop strategies for working with the media** to provide timely and accurate information to **students**, parents/guardians, and the community during a crisis **or natural disaster**. ~~The Board also recognizes that the media have an important role to play in relaying this information to the public. In order to help ensure that the media and district work together effectively, the Superintendent or designee shall develop a crisis communications plan to identify communication strategies to be taken in the event of a crisis. The crisis communications plan may include, but not be limited to, identification of a media center location, strategies for press conference logistics, and development and integration of both internal and external notification systems, including public address systems, social media, web site postings, and text alerts. and strategies for press conference logistics.~~

MEDIA RELATIONS (continued)

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan)
 (cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites)
 (cf. 1114 - District-Sponsored Social Media)
 (cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan)

The crisis communications plan may include but not be limited to identification of a media center location, development of both internal and external notification systems, and strategies for press conference logistics.

The Superintendent or designee shall include local law enforcement, and media representatives, and district technology personnel in the crisis planning process.

*Legal Reference:*EDUCATION CODE

32210-32212 Willful disturbance of public school or meeting

35144 Special meetings

35145 Public meetings

35160 Authority of governing boards

35172 Promotional activities

48907 Freedom of speech and press

48950 Prohibition against disciplinary action for first amendment speech

49061 Definition of directory information

49073 Directory information

EVIDENCE CODE

1070 Refusal to disclose news source

PENAL CODE

627-627.10 Access to school premises

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20

1232g Family educational and privacy rights

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 34

99.3 Definition of directory information

COURT DECISIONS

Lopez v. Tulare Joint Union High School District, (1995) 34 Cal.App.4th 1302

ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS

95 79 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 509 58 (1996)

*Management Resources:*WEB SITES

CSBA: <http://www.csba.org>

(10/96 7/01) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Board Policy

Business and Noninstructional Operations

BP 3551(a)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND

Note: The following policy may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program (42 USC 1751-1769j, 1773) are **mandated** to adopt policy addressing delinquent meal charges; see the section "Meal Sales" below and the accompanying administrative regulation.

Pursuant to 7 CFR 210.9, 210.14, and 220.7, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast program must maintain a nonprofit school food service program. Revenues received through the program may be used for the operation or improvement of the food service program, but not to construct buildings. Revenues also may not be used to purchase land or buildings, unless otherwise approved by the USDA. Authorized expenditures are **specified in Education Code 38101 and** defined in the California Department of Education's (CDE) California School Accounting Manual.

The Governing Board intends that school food services shall be a self-supporting, nonprofit program. To ensure program quality and increase cost effectiveness, the Superintendent or designee shall centralize and direct the purchasing of foods and supplies, the planning of menus, and the auditing of all food service accounts for the district.

(cf. 3100 - Budget)

(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases)

(cf. 3311 - Bids)

(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program)

(cf. 3552 - Summer Meal Program)

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness)

Note: **The following paragraph is for use by districts that participate in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program and may be adapted for use by other districts. Pursuant to 42 USC 1776 and 7 CFR 210.30, as amended by 84 Fed. Reg. 8247, the USDA has established minimum professional standards for food service personnel directors and granted CDE the authority to adopt more flexible standards for districts with average daily attendance of less than 2,500. With approval from the CDE, more flexible standards may be used in districts with average daily attendance of less than 500 or in districts of any size when hiring a new acting food services director. For more information about professional standards for food service directors, see CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-17-2016. See CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin 10-2019 for information about state hiring standards.**

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that **all food service personnel director(s)** possess the **required qualifications required by 7 CFR 210.30 and California Department of Education (CDE) standards.** **and receive ongoing professional development related to the effective management and implementation of the district's food service program in accordance with law.**

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development)

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

Note: The following paragraph is for use by districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program. Pursuant to 42 USC 1776, such districts must ensure that food service personnel and other appropriate personnel who conduct or oversee administrative procedures receive training on administrative practices (i.e., training in application, certification, verification, meal counting, and meal claiming procedures) at least once each year. In addition, all food service personnel are required to receive annual training that (1) is designed to improve the accuracy of approvals for free and reduced-price meals and the identification of reimbursable meals at the point of service and (2) includes modules on nutrition, health and food safety standards and methodologies, and any other appropriate topics as determined by the U.S. Secretary of Agriculture. The CDE provides online training that meets these requirements; see the CDE's web site.

At least once each year, food service administrators, other appropriate personnel who conduct or oversee administrative procedures, and other food service personnel shall receive training provided by the California Department of Education (CDE). (42 USC 1776)

Meal Sales

Note: The following section may be revised by districts that have one or more high-poverty schools that operate under the federal universal meal service provision (42 USC 1759a), which provides breakfast and/or lunch free of charge to all students at the school. For further information, see BP/AR-3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals.

Meals may be sold to students, district employees, Board members, and employees or members of the fund or association maintaining the cafeteria. (Education Code 38082)

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 38082, the Governing Board may adopt a resolution to authorize serving meals to additional persons other than those listed above. CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin No. 00-111 states that the Board's policy or resolution must specify the means for serving those persons and indicates that using funds from the National School Lunch or Breakfast Program to serve any nonstudent would be contrary to program goals. The following optional paragraph is for districts that have adopted such a resolution and should be revised to reflect district practice.

In addition, meals may be sold to nonstudents, including parents/guardians, volunteers, students' siblings, or other individuals, who are on campus for a legitimate purpose. Any meals served to nonstudents shall not be subsidized by federal or state reimbursements, food service revenues, or U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) foods.

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 38084, the district may determine meal prices consistent with the goal of paying the costs of maintaining the cafeterias (exclusive of the costs of housing and equipping cafeterias or other costs determined by Board resolution, which are paid from district funds other than the cafeteria fund, pursuant to Education Code 38100).

Students who meet federal eligibility criteria for the reduced-price meal program cannot be charged more than the amounts listed in 42 USC 1758 and 1773; see AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. For information about setting prices for full-price meals, see 42 USC 1760 and CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin USDA-SNP-16-2012 12-2018.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

Meal prices, as recommended by the Superintendent or designee and approved by the Board, shall be based on the costs of providing food services and consistent with Education Code 38084 and 42 USC 1760. Students who are enrolled in the free or reduced-price meal program shall receive meals free of charge or at a reduced price in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.

(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals)

Note: Pursuant to USDA Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program are **mandated** to have a written and clearly communicated meal charge policy which includes, but is not limited to, policy on the collection of delinquent meal charge debt. See the accompanying administrative regulation for additional language fulfilling this mandate. Pursuant to Education Code 49557.5, as added by SB 250 (Ch. 726, Statutes of 2017), districts must make the meal charge policy public.

The Superintendent or designee shall establish strategies and procedures for the collection of meal payments, including delinquent meal payments. Such procedures shall conform with **BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals**, 2 CFR 200.426, and any applicable CDE guidance. The Superintendent or designee shall clearly communicate these procedures to students and parents/guardians, and shall make this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation available to the public **pursuant to Education Code 49557.5**.

Note: Education Code 49557.5 requires any district that participates in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program to ensure that students with unpaid meal fees are not shamed or treated differently than other students. For further information, see Pursuant to CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017, the district's unpaid meals policy must ensure that students with unrecovered or delinquent debt are not overtly identified. In addition, Education Code 49557.5, as added by SB 250 (Ch. 726, Statutes of 2017), requires any district that participates in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program to ensure that students with unpaid meal fees are not shamed or treated differently than other students.

In addition, Education Code 49557 requires the Board to approve a plan that ensures students eligible to receive free or reduced-price meals are not treated differently from other students, including, but not limited to, assurance that eligible students will not be overtly identified by the use of special tokens, tickets, or any other means. For additional language addressing this requirement, see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a student whose parent/guardian has unpaid school meal fees **or a student who is enrolled in the free or reduced-price meal program** is not overtly identified, **by the use of special tokens, tickets, or other means and is not** shamed, treated differently, or served a meal that differs from the meal served to other students. (Education Code **49557**, 49557.5)

Note: Education Code 49557 requires the Board to approve a plan that ensures students eligible to receive free or reduced-price meals are not treated differently from other students, including, but not limited to, assurance that eligible students will not be overtly identified by the use of special tokens, tickets, or any other means. For additional language addressing this requirement, see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

Students who are enrolled in the free or reduced-price meal program shall receive meals free of charge or at a reduced price in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation. Such students shall not be overtly identified or treated differently from other students.

(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities)

(cf. 0415 - Equity)


Cafeteria Fund

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 38090, money received for the sale of food or for any services performed by the cafeterias may be paid into the county treasury to the credit of a "cafeteria fund" for the district.

The Superintendent or designee shall establish a cafeteria fund independent of the district's general fund.

Note: Education Code 38103 allows the Board, at its discretion and with the approval of the County Superintendent of Schools who is responsible for a countywide payroll/retirement system under Education Code 42646, to have wages, salaries, and benefits of food service employees paid either from the district's general fund (Option 1 below) or from the district's cafeteria fund (Option 2).

OPTION 1: The wages, salaries, and benefits of food service employees shall be paid from the district's general fund. At any time, the Board may order reimbursement from the district's cafeteria fund for these payments in amounts prescribed by the Board and not exceeding the costs actually incurred. (Education Code 38103)

 **OPTION 2:** The wages, salaries, and benefits of food service employees shall be paid from the cafeteria fund. (Education Code 38103)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 2 CFR Part 200, Appendix VII and USDA guidance, Indirect Costs: Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities, provide information regarding allowable indirect costs that may be charged to the nonprofit school food service account. Also see the accompanying administrative regulation.

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that state and federal funds provided through school meal programs are allocated only for purposes related to the operation or improvement of food services and reasonable and necessary indirect program costs as allowed by law.

(cf. 3230 - Federal Grant Funds)

(cf. 3400 - Management of District Assets/Accounts)

(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

Contracts with Outside Services

Note: The following section is **optional**. Pursuant to Education Code 45103.5, the district is authorized to contract for consulting services related to food service management. 42 USC 1758, 7 CFR 210.16, and Education Code 45103.5 authorize a district, under specified conditions and with approval of the CDE, to contract with a food service management company to manage its food service operation in one or more of its schools. See the accompanying administrative regulation for related requirements.

With Board approval, the district may enter into a contract for food service consulting services or management services in one or more district schools. (Education Code 45103.5; 42 USC 1758; 7 CFR 210.16)

(cf. 3312 - Contracts)

(cf. 3600 - Consultants)

Procurement of Foods, Equipment and Supplies

Note: The following two paragraphs reflect requirements for districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program. Pursuant to 7 CFR 210.21, districts are required to comply with all requirements for purchasing commercial food products served in the school meal programs, including those outlined in the Buy American provision. **This provision indicates USDA Memorandum SP 38-2017 clarifies** that a district participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program or any entity purchasing food on its behalf must, to the maximum extent practicable, purchase domestically grown and processed foods, as defined. According to **USDA the Memorandum SP-24-2016**, a domestic commodity or product is deemed to be "substantially using" domestic agricultural commodities when over 51 percent of the final processed product consists of agricultural commodities produced in the United States.

Limited exceptions to the Buy American requirement are described in USDA Memorandum SP 38-2017. If the district is using one of these exceptions, it must maintain documentation justifying the exception(s).

Pursuant to Education Code 49563, **as added by SB 730 (Ch. 571, Statutes of 2017)**, the CDE is required to make resources, requirements, and best practices related to the Buy American provision available on its web site and to provide districts with related USDA guidance or regulations as updates are issued.

To the maximum extent practicable, foods purchased for use in school meals by the district or by any entity purchasing food on its behalf shall be domestic commodities or products. *Domestic commodity or product* means an agricultural commodity that is produced in the United States and a food product that is processed in the United States substantially using agricultural commodities that are produced in the United States. (42 USC 1760; 7 CFR 210.21)

A nondomestic food product may be purchased for use in the district's food service program only as a last resort when the product is not produced or manufactured in the United States in sufficient and reasonable quantities of a satisfactory quality, or when competitive bids reveal

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

the costs of a United States product are significantly higher than the nondomestic product. In such cases, the Superintendent or designee shall retain documentation justifying the use of the exception.

Note: Pursuant to Food and Agriculture Code 58595, as added by AB 822 (Ch. 785, Statutes of 2017), a district that solicits bids for the purchase of an agricultural product must give preference for California-grown agricultural products, with certain conditions, as provided below:

Furthermore, the district shall accept a bid or price for an agricultural product grown in California before accepting a bid or price for an agricultural product grown outside the state, if the quality of the California-grown product is comparable and the bid or price does not exceed the lowest bid or price of a product produced outside the state. (Food and Agriculture Code 58595)

Note: Pursuant to Public Contract Code 20111, as amended by SB 544 (Ch. 395, Statutes of 2017), districts participating in a federally funded child nutrition program, such as the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program, must comply with the federal procurement standards of 2 CFR 200.318-200.326 in regard to bid solicitations and awards. Also see BP/AR 3230 - Federal Grant Funds. Districts that do not participate in such a program may revise the following paragraph.

Bid solicitations and awards for purchases of equipment, materials, or supplies in support of the district's child nutrition program, or for contracts awarded pursuant to Public Contract Code 2000, shall be consistent with the federal procurement standards in 2 CFR 200.318-200.326. Awards shall be let to the most responsive and responsible party. Price shall be the primary consideration, but not the only determining factor, in making such an award. (Public Contract Code 20111)

Program Monitoring and Evaluation

The Superintendent or designee shall present to the Board, at least annually, financial reports regarding revenues and expenditures related to the food service program.

Note: The following paragraph is for use by districts that have one or more schools participating in the National School Lunch Program, School Breakfast Program, Seamless Summer Feeding Option, and/or other federal meal program. The state monitoring process (the Administrative Review) includes a review of district compliance with requirements for federal meal programs, including a review of resource management in the food service program as provided in the following paragraph. Each district is reviewed at least once every three years. See the CDE's nutrition services web site for a current list of documents that may be requested for the review.

During the Administrative Review, CDE will review district policies on charge accounts, alternate meals, unpaid meal charges, and guidelines for continually notifying parents/guardians of these policies.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide all necessary documentation required for the Administrative Review conducted by the CDE to ensure compliance of the district's food

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

service program with federal requirements related to maintenance of the nonprofit school food service account, meal charges, paid lunch equity, revenue from nonprogram goods, indirect costs, and USDA foods.

(cf. 3555 - Nutrition Program Compliance)

*Legal Reference:*EDUCATION CODE

38080-38086.1 Cafeteria, establishment and use

38090-38095 Cafeterias, funds and accounts

38100-38103 Cafeterias, allocation of charges

42646 Alternate payroll procedure

45103.5 Contracts for management consulting services; restrictions

49490-49493 School breakfast and lunch programs

49500-49505 School meals

~~49554 Contract for services~~

49550-49564.5 Meals for needy students, especially:

49550.5 Universal breakfast

~~49554 Contract for services~~

49580-49581 Food recovery program

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE CODE

58595 Preference for California-grown agricultural products

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE

113700-114437 California Retail Food Code

PUBLIC CONTRACT CODE

2000-2002 Responsive bidders

20111 Contracts

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5

15550-15565 School lunch and breakfast programs

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42

1751-1769j School lunch programs

1771-1791 Child nutrition, including:

1773 School breakfast program

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 2

200.56 Indirect costs, definition

200.318317-200.326 Procurement standards

200.400-200.475 Cost principles

200 Appendix VII Indirect cost proposals

CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 7

210.1-210.31 National School Lunch Program

220.1-220.21 National School Breakfast Program

250.1-250.70 USDA foods

Management Resources: (see next page)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)*Management Resources:*CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONSCalifornia School Accounting ManualFood Distribution Program Administrative ManualProfessional Standards in the SNP and New Hiring Flexibility, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-10-2019, April 2019Paid Lunch Equity Requirement and Calculation Tool, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-12-2018, May 2018Clarification for the Use of Alternate Meals in the National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs, and Additional Guidance on the Handling of Unpaid Meal Charges, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-03-2018, February 2018Storage and Inventory Management of U.S. Department of Agriculture Foods, NSD Management Bulletin, FDP-01-2018, January 2018Unpaid Meal Charges: Local Meal Charge Policies, Clarification on Collection of Delinquent Meal Payments, and Excess Student Account Balances, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-03-2017, April 2017Procuring and Monitoring of Food Service Management Contracts, NSD Management Bulletin, SNP-13-2015Clarification for the Use of Alternate Meals in the National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs, Bad Debt Policies, and the Handling of Unpaid Meal Charges, NSD Management Bulletin, USDA SNP-06-2015, May 2015Cafeteria Funds--Allowable Uses, NSD Management Bulletin, NSD-SNP-07-2013, May 2013Paid Lunch Equity Requirement, NSD Management Bulletin, USDA SNP-16-2012, October 2012Adult and Sibling Meals in the National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs, NSD Management Bulletin, 00-111, July 2000U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE PUBLICATIONSFAQs About School MealsCompliance with and Enforcement of the Buy American Provision in the National School Lunch Program, SP 38-2017, June 2017Overcoming the Unpaid Meal Challenge: Proven Strategies from Our Nation's Schools, September 2016Unpaid Meal Charges: Guidance and Q&A, SP 23-2017, March 2017Indirect Costs: Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities SP 60-2016, September 2016Overcoming the Unpaid Meal Challenge: Proven Strategies from Our Nation's Schools, September 2016Unpaid Meal Charges: Local Meal Charge Policies, SP 46-2016, July 2016Compliance with and Enforcement of the Buy American Provision in the National School Lunch Program, SP 24-2016, February 2016Discretionary Elimination of Reduced Price Charges in the School Meal Programs, SP 17-2014, January 2014WEB SITESCalifornia Department of Education, Nutrition Services Division: <http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu>California School Nutrition Association: <http://www.calsna.org>U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service: <http://www.fns.usda.gov/cnd>

(5/17 3/18) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Administrative Regulation

Business and Noninstructional Operations

AR 3551(a)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND

Note: Districts that have one or more high-poverty schools operating under the federal universal meal service provision (42 USC 1759a), which provides breakfast and/or lunch free of charge to all students at the school (i.e., "universal meal service") at one or more schools pursuant to 42 USC 1759a or Education Code 49550.5 should revise the following administrative regulation accordingly. Also see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals.

Payments for Meals

Note: State and federal law (Education Code 49550; 42 USC 1758, 1773) require that all students eligible for free and reduced-price meals receive a reimbursable meal during each school day, which must be the same meal choice offered to noneligible students; see BP/AR 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals. California Department of Education (CDE) Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-06-201503-2018 clarifies that districts therefore cannot serve an alternate meal (i.e., a meal that is different than the day's advertised meal) to a student eligible for reduced-price meals who does not have the ability to pay or who fails to provide a meal ticket or other medium of exchange on a given day.

In addition to providing meals at no cost to students who are eligible, the district may offer meals at no cost to students who qualify for reduced-price benefits. Districts that choose to eliminate reduced-price meal charges may still claim the meals at the reduced-price rate, but the cost difference between the reduced-price meal and the no-cost meal must be covered by the district's cafeteria fund. Districts that choose to do so may modify the following paragraph accordingly. For more information, see the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) Memorandum SP 17-2014.

The following section includes recommendations of the CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin and the USDA's "FAQs About School Meals" on the USDA's web site and may be revised to reflect district practice.

With the exception of students who are eligible to receive meals at no cost, students may pay on a per-meal basis or may submit payments in advance. The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a system for accurately recording payments received and tracking meals provided to each student.

(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program)

(cf. 3552 - Summer Meal Program)

(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals)

(cf. 3555 - Nutrition Program Compliance)

Note: CDE's program monitoring process (the Administrative Review) requires districts to continually notify parents/guardians of district policies regarding meal payments, including charge accounts and alternate meals if applicable. Districts should, at a minimum, inform parents/guardians at the beginning of the school year and on an ongoing basis of district practices for students who have lost or forgotten their meal payment. In addition, districts should set up a system for notifying parents/guardians when a student's meal payment account has a low or negative balance.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

According to USDA's Memorandum SP-23-2017, the district's policy on delinquent meal payments must be communicated in writing to all households at the start of each school year and to households transferring to the school during the school year. CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017 states that, at a minimum, districts should use the methods specified below to communicate the district's meal policy.

At the beginning of the school year, and whenever a student enrolls during the school year, parents/guardians shall be notified of the district's meal payment policies and be encouraged to prepay for meals whenever possible. The Superintendent or designee shall communicate the district's meal payment policies through multiple methods, including, but not limited to:

1. Explaining the meal charge policy within registration materials provided to parents/guardians at the start of the school year
2. Including the policy in print versions of student handbooks, if provided to parents/guardians annually
3. Providing the policy whenever parents/guardians are notified regarding the application process for free and reduced-price meals, such as in the distribution of applications at the start of the school year
4. Posting the policy on the district's web site
5. Establishing a system to notify parents/guardians when a student's meal payment account has a low or negative balance

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites)

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. According to the USDA's "FAQs About School Meals," any district that participates in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program and has one or more schools which use a system of meal tickets (or tokens, cards, or other similar medium of exchange) may limit the number of lost or stolen tickets it will replace for students each school year, as long as the limit is set at three or more. However, such a limit may only be established if the school (1) advises students and parents/guardians of the district's rules regarding replacement tickets at the beginning of the school year and/or when applications for free and reduced-price meals are distributed or approved; (2) maintains a list of students who have reported lost and stolen tickets and the number of occurrences for each student; (2) (3) issues at least one advance warning to the student or his/her the student's parent/guardian prior to refusing to issue a replacement ticket; and (3) (4) does not deny meals to prekindergarten or younger primary students or students with disabilities who may be unable to take full responsibility for their meal tickets. Although these requirements apply only to students who qualify for free or reduced-price meals, the USDA recommends that districts apply the same limits for students who pay full price for their meals in order to ensure that needy students are not overtly identified because of a disparate ticket replacement policy.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

In any school that uses a system of meal tickets or other similar medium of exchange rather than an electronic point-of-sale system, the Superintendent or designee shall develop a process for providing replacement tickets to any student who reports **his/her a tickets** as lost or stolen. However, whenever any student reports an excessive number of lost or stolen tickets, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the parent/guardian and may provide an alternative method of tracking meal usage for that student.

In order to avoid potential misuse of a student's food service account by someone other than the student in whose name the account has been established, the Superintendent or designee shall verify a student's identity when setting up the account and when charging any meal to the account. The Superintendent or designee shall investigate any claim that a bill does not belong to a student or is inaccurate, **shall not require a student to pay a bill that appears to be the result of identity theft**, and shall open a new account **as appropriate** with a new account number for a student whose **account** appears to **have been misused** ~~be the subject of identity theft~~.

(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records)
(cf. 3580 - District Records)

Note: Pursuant to CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017, districts must ensure that students who are approved for reduced-price meals receive all meals that are paid for. Any excess payments must be either carried over or refunded to the parents/guardians. The following paragraph extends this provision to also apply to students paying for full-price meals.

Any payments made to a student's food service account shall, if not used within the school year, be carried over into the next school year or be refunded to the student's parents/guardians.

Unpaid and Delinquent Meal Charges

Note: The following section reflects requirements applicable to districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program and may also be used by districts that do not participate in the program. Pursuant to USDA Memorandum SP 46-2016, districts participating in the National School Lunch and/or Breakfast Program are **mandated** to have a written and clearly communicated meal charge policy which includes, but is not limited to, policy on the collection of delinquent meal charge debt. Such policy may be consistent for all students or vary by grade level. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice.

Pursuant to Education Code 49557.5, as added by SB 250 (Ch. 726, Statutes of 2017), the district must notify parents/guardians within 10 days of a negative balance in their child's school meal account. Prior to sending the notification to the parent/guardian, the district must exhaust all options and methods to certify the student for free or reduced-price meals. The district is required to reimburse meal fees paid by the parent/guardian during any time that the student would have been eligible for free or reduced-price meals, to the extent that the expense is reimbursable under the National School Lunch Program.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

At its discretion, the district may choose to also notify parents/guardians before the student's meal account reaches a negative balance. The following paragraph may be modified to reflect district practice.

No later than 10 days after a student's school meal account has reached a negative balance, the Superintendent or designee shall so notify the student's parent/guardian. Before sending this notification, the district shall exhaust all options and methods to directly certify the student for free or reduced-price meals. If the district is not able to directly certify the student, the notice to the parent/guardian shall include a paper copy of, or an electronic link to, an application for free or reduced-price meals and the Superintendent or designee shall contact the parent/guardian to encourage submission of the application. (Education Code 49557.5)

Note: Education Code 49557.5, as added by SB 250 (Ch. 726, Statutes of 2017), prohibits the use of a debt collector to collect unpaid school meal fees.

The district may attempt to collect unpaid school meal fees from a parent/guardian, but shall not use a debt collector. (Education Code 49557.5)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph reflects CDE guidance in its Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017.

The Superintendent or designee may enter into an agreement with a student's parent/guardian for payment of the student's unpaid meal charge balance over a period of time. As necessary, the repayment plan may allow the unrecovered or delinquent debt to carry over into the next fiscal year.

The district shall not direct any action toward a student to collect unpaid school meal fees. (Education Code 49557.5)

Note: CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin SNP-03-2017 requires that the district's unpaid meal policy conform with the cost principles set forth in 2 CFR 200.426, as provided below.

The district's efforts to collect debt shall be consistent with district policies and procedures, California Department of Education (CDE) guidance, and 2 CFR 200.426. The district shall not spend more than the actual debt owed in efforts to recover unpaid meal charges.

Note: Pursuant to CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletins ~~SNP 06-2015~~ and SNP-03-2017, delinquent debt must be reclassified as bad debt and written off as an operating loss if it is not paid by the end of the fiscal year in which the debt was incurred, unless the district enters into a repayment plan with the parent/guardian prior to the end of the fiscal year or the debt occurs fewer than 90 days prior to the end of the fiscal year. Federal funds are not available to reimburse the district for bad debt. Districts are required to maintain related records in accordance with 7 CFR 210.9 and 210.15.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of the efforts made to collect unpaid meal charges and, if applicable, financial documentation showing when the unpaid meal balance has become an operating loss.

Reimbursement Claims

Note: To streamline administration of state and federal meal programs, CDE has developed an online Child Nutrition Information and Payment System which must be used to submit reimbursement claims and to submit and track the status of applications and USDA food requests.

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain records of the number of meals served each day by school site and by category of free, reduced-price, and full-price meals. The Superintendent or designee shall submit reimbursement claims for school meals to CDE using the online Child Nutrition Information and Payment System.

Donation of Leftover Food

Note: The following section is **optional** and may be revised to reflect district practice. Health and Safety Code 114079, as amended by SB 557 (Ch. 285, Statutes of 2017), authorizes districts to provide "sharing tables" where food service staff, students, and faculty may return appropriate food items which may then be shared with other students or donated to a food bank or any other nonprofit charitable organization.

To minimize waste and reduce food insecurity, the district may provide sharing tables where students and staff may return appropriate unused cafeteria food items to be made available to students during the course of a regular school meal time. If food on the sharing tables is not taken by a student, the school cafeteria may donate the food to a food bank or any other nonprofit charitable organization. (Health and Safety Code 114079)

(cf. 3510 - Green School Operations)

Food that may be donated includes prepackaged, nonpotentially hazardous food with the packaging still intact and in good condition, whole uncut produce, unopened bags of sliced fruit, unopened containers of milk that are immediately stored in a cooling bin maintained at 41 degrees Fahrenheit or below, and perishable prepackaged food if it is placed in a proper temperature-controlled environment. The preparation, safety, and donation of food shall be consistent with Health and Safety Code 113980. (Health and Safety Code 114079)

Cafeteria Fund

Note: Education Code ~~38094~~ **38093** authorizes the Governing Board to establish one or more cafeteria revolving accounts to be treated as revolving cash accounts of the cafeteria fund.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

All proceeds from food sales and other services offered by the cafeteria shall be deposited in the cafeteria fund as provided by law. The income and expenditures of any cafeteria revolving account established by the Governing Board shall be recorded as income and expenditures of the cafeteria fund. (Education Code 38090, ~~38091~~ **38093**)

(cf. 3100 - Budget)

(cf. 3300 - Expenditures and Purchases)

Note: Education Code 38101, as amended by AB 3043 (Ch. 593, Statutes of 2018), permits a district, with approval from CDE, to utilize cafeteria funds to pay for the purchase of a mobile food facility. However, if the district uses federal reimbursements from any of the federal child nutrition programs for such purchase, the mobile food facility shall only be used to support the administration of those federal programs. Mobile food facilities used for any purposes other than to support the administration of federal child nutrition programs shall not be purchased with cafeteria funds.

The cafeteria fund shall be used only for those expenditures authorized by the Board as necessary for the operation of school cafeterias in accordance with Education Code 38100-38103, 2 CFR Part 200 Appendix VII, and the California School Accounting Manual.

Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to provide universal breakfast (free of charge to all students) at one or more schools. Pursuant to Education Code 49550.5, as added by AB 3043, districts may use cafeteria funds to supplement the cost of providing universal breakfast provided they submit the required certification to CDE. The requirement to submit certification does not apply to any district that provides universal breakfast pursuant to a federally authorized provision (e.g., Provision 1, 2, or 3 or the Community Eligibility Provision of the National School Lunch Act).

With CDE approval, the district may use cafeteria funds to supplement the provision of universal breakfast. On or before July 1 of each year, the district shall submit to CDE a Board-signed application certifying that breakfast will be provided to all students at no charge and that any cost above the amount provided in federal reimbursement will be covered by the district with nonfederal funds. (Education Code 49550.5)

Any charges to, or transfers from, a food service program shall be dated and accompanied by a written explanation of the expenditure's purpose and basis. (Education Code 38101)

(cf. 3110 - Transfer of Funds)

Note: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 2 CFR Part 200 Appendix VII and USDA guidance **SP 60-2016**, Indirect Costs: Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities, provide information regarding allowable indirect costs that may be charged to the nonprofit school food service account. Indirect costs are those that are incurred for the benefit of multiple programs or objectives and typically support administrative overhead functions (e.g., accounting, payroll, purchasing, utilities, janitorial services). Each program or objective that benefits from the indirect cost bears a commensurate portion of the cost. Costs may be charged to the nonprofit food service account only if properly documented.

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

Indirect costs charged to the food service program shall be based on either the district's prior year indirect cost rate **as approved by CDE** or the statewide average approved indirect cost rate for the second prior fiscal year, whichever is less. (Education Code 38101)

Note: Pursuant to 7 CFR **210.7 210.14** and **220.14 220.7**, net cash resources (i.e., all monies that have accrued to the nonprofit school food service at any given time, less cash payable) should not exceed three months average expenditures. If there is a surplus, then according to USDA guidance, Indirect Costs: Guidance for State Agencies and School Food Authorities, the district must lower the price of paid lunches, improve food quality, or make other improvements to school meal operations. **CDE's Nutrition Services Division Management Bulletin NSD-SNP-07-2013 provides that the** ~~The~~ spending plan developed by the district under such circumstances must be approved by the CDE.

Net cash resources in the nonprofit school food service shall not exceed three months average expenditures. ~~(2 CFR 220.14)~~ **(7 CFR 210.14, 220.7)**

U.S. Department of Agriculture Foods

Note: The following **optional** section is for use by districts that participate in the National School Lunch Program and receive foods from the USDA pursuant to 42 USC 1755 and 7 CFR 250.1-250.70. CDE is responsible for ordering and distributing USDA foods for use in California schools. Pursuant to 42 USC 1758, USDA must ensure that foods offered through this program reflect the most recent Dietary Guidelines for Americans.

The district shall provide facilities for the storage and control of foods received through the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) that protect against theft, spoilage, damage, or other loss. Such storage facilities shall maintain donated foods in sanitary conditions, at the proper temperature and humidity, and with adequate air circulation. The district shall comply with all federal, state, or local requirements related to food safety and health and procedures for responding to a food recall, as applicable, and shall obtain all required health inspections. (7 CFR 250.14)

~~The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that foods received through the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) are handled, stored, and distributed in facilities which: (7 CFR 250.14)~~

1. ~~Are sanitary and free from rodent, bird, insect, and other animal infestation~~
2. ~~Safeguard foods against theft, spoilage, and other loss~~
3. ~~Maintain foods at proper storage temperatures~~
4. ~~Store foods off the floor in a manner to allow for adequate ventilation~~
5. ~~Take other protective measures as may be necessary~~

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain inventories of USDA foods in accordance with 7 CFR 250.59 and CDE procedures, and shall ensure that foods are used before their expiration dates.

USDA donated foods shall be used in school lunches as far as practicable. USDA foods also may be used in other nonprofit food service activities, including, but not limited to, school breakfasts or other meals, a la carte foods sold to students, meals served to adults directly involved in the operation and administration of the food service and to other school staff, and training in nutrition, health, food service, or general home economics instruction for students, provided that any revenues from such activities accrue to the district's nonprofit food service account. (7 CFR 250.59)

Contracts with Outside Services

Note: The following **optional** section is for use by districts that contract for food service management services pursuant to Education Code 49554, 42 USC 1758, or 7 CFR 210.16 or consulting services pursuant to Education Code 45103.5, and should be modified to reflect the type(s) of contracts **in** the district **maintains**; see the accompanying Board policy.

The term of any contract for food service management or consulting services shall not exceed one year. Any renewal of the contract or further requests for proposals to provide such services shall be considered on a year-to-year basis. (Education Code 45103.5; 7 CFR 210.16)

Any contract for management of the food service operation shall be approved by CDE and comply with the conditions in Education Code 49554 and 7 CFR 210.16 as applicable. The district shall retain control of the quality, extent, and general nature of its food services, including prices to be charged to students for meals, and shall monitor the food service operation through periodic on-site visits. The district shall not enter into a contract with a food service company to provide a la carte food services only, unless the company agrees to offer free, reduced-price, and full-price reimbursable meals to all eligible students. (Education Code 49554; 42 USC 1758; 7 CFR 210.16)

Any contract for consulting services shall not result in the supervision of food service classified staff by the management consultant, nor shall it result in the elimination of any food service classified staff or position or have any adverse effect on the wages, benefits, or other terms and conditions of employment of classified food service staff or positions. All persons providing consulting services shall be subject to applicable employment conditions related to health and safety as listed in Education Code 45103.5. (Education Code 45103.5)

(cf. 3312 - Contracts)

(cf. 3515.6 - Criminal Background Checks for Contractors)

(cf. 3600 - Consultants)

FOOD SERVICE OPERATIONS/CAFETERIA FUND (continued)

(cf. 4112.4/4212.4/4312.4 - Health Examinations)

(cf. 4212 - Appointments and Conditions of Employment)

(5/17 3/18) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Administrative Regulation

Certificated Personnel

AR 4117.7(a)
4317.7

EMPLOYMENT STATUS REPORTS

Note: Education Code 44030.5 and 44242.5, as added and amended by AB 449 (Ch. 232, Statutes of 2013), and 5 CCR 80303, as amended by Register 2014, No. 14, require the Superintendent to make a report to the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) when the employment status of a certificated employee has been changed as a result of alleged misconduct or while an allegation of misconduct is pending. Upon notification by the district or other specified agencies, the CTC may conduct a review and take an adverse action against the certificated employee, including, but not limited to, suspension or revocation of the credential.

Pursuant to 5 CCR 80303, the report must be made regardless of any proposed or actual agreement, settlement, or stipulation between the district and the employee not to make such a report. The report must also be made if the allegations are withdrawn in consideration of the employee's resignation, retirement, or other failure to contest the truth of the allegations.

Pursuant to Education Code 44030.5 and 5 CCR 80303, as amended, the Superintendent's failure to make the report of the change in employment status or to notify the affected employee of the contents of 5 CCR 80303 would be considered unprofessional conduct and, if it is determined that the Superintendent refused or willfully neglected to make the report, he/she the Superintendent may be found guilty of a misdemeanor and fined.

The Superintendent shall report to the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) any change in the employment status of a certificated employee who, while working in a position requiring a credential and as a result of an allegation of misconduct or while an allegation of misconduct is pending: (Education Code 44030.5, 44242.5; 5 CCR 80303)

1. Is dismissed or nonreelected

(cf. 4116 - Probationary/Permanent Status)
(cf. 4117.6 - Decision Not to Rehire)
(cf. 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action)

2. Resigns

(cf. 4117.2/4217.2/4317.2 - Resignation)

3. Is suspended or placed on unpaid administrative leave for more than 10 days as a final adverse employment action

4. Retires

5. Is otherwise terminated by a decision not to employ or reemploy

(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards)

EMPLOYMENT STATUS REPORTS (continued)

(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting)

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 44030.5 and 44242.5, as added and amended by AB 449 (Ch. 232, Statutes of 2013), a change in employment status due solely to unsatisfactory performance or a reduction in force does not require a report to the CTC.

This report is not required when the change in employment status is due solely to unsatisfactory performance pursuant to Education Code 44932 or a reduction in force pursuant to Education Code 44955-44958. (Education Code 44030.5, 44242.5; 5 CCR 80303)

(cf. 4115 - Evaluation/Supervision)
(cf. 4117.3 - Personnel Reduction)

Note: Education Code 44030.5 requires the Superintendent to submit the report to the CTC within 30 days of the change in employment status. 5 CCR 80303, as amended by Register 2014, No. 14, requires the CTC to acknowledge receipt of the report within 30 days of receipt.

5 CCR 80303, as amended, describes the contents that must be included in the report. The report should be made using a notification form available on the CTC's web site and attaching relevant documents, evidence, and materials related to the district's investigation of the misconduct.

When required, the report of a change in employment status shall be submitted not later than 30 days after the employment action. The report shall be made using a form provided by the CTC and shall include all known information about each alleged act of misconduct by the employee. The report shall contain the name and current address of the certificated employee, name of the district, last school or district assignment, an explanation of the allegation of misconduct or pending allegation of misconduct, current contact information for all persons who may have information relating to the alleged misconduct, and any and all documentation related to the case. (Education Code 44030.5; 5 CCR 80303)

Upon a change in employment status as a result of alleged misconduct or while an allegation of misconduct is pending, the Superintendent shall, in writing, inform the employee of the contents of 5 CCR 80303. (5 CCR 80303)

(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications)

Additional Reports of Employee Misconduct

Note: Notification forms for the reports specified in items #1-2 below are available on the CTC's web site.

The Superintendent or designee shall submit a report to the CTC, using a form provided by the CTC and attaching all relevant documents, whenever:

EMPLOYMENT STATUS REPORTS (continued)

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 44940, the district must notify **the** CTC when an employee has been charged in court with a "mandatory leave of absence offense," defined as a sex or drug offense specified in Education Code 44940 **or a violation or attempted violation of Penal Code 187 (murder)**. Also see **BP/AR 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action**. Upon receiving notification from the district regarding any such offense, **the** CTC will automatically suspend the employee's credential. Education Code 44423.5 also requires **the** CTC to suspend an individual's credential upon receiving notice that another state has taken final action to revoke the individual's credential.

1. An employee, by complaint, information, or indictment filed in court, is charged with a "mandatory leave of absence offense," defined as a sex or drug offense specified in Education Code 44940 **or violation or attempted violation of Penal Code 187 (murder)**. (Education Code 44242.5, 44940, 44940.5)

Not later than 10 days after receipt of such a complaint, information, or indictment regarding an employee, the Superintendent or designee shall forward a copy of the received documents to **the** CTC. In addition, **he/she the Superintendent or designee** shall report to **the** CTC any action taken in connection with extending the employee's mandatory leave beyond the initial period. (Education Code 44940, 44940.5)

Note: According to **the** CTC's notification form, submission of this notification to **the** CTC does not relieve the district of the obligation to also submit an employment status report of the same misconduct when the district takes disciplinary action resulting in a change in employment status.

If the offense results in a change in employment status, the Superintendent shall submit an employment status report in addition to the report of the mandatory leave of absence offense.

2. An employee refuses, without good cause, to fulfill a valid employment contract, or departs from district service without the consent of the Superintendent or Governing Board. (Education Code 44242.5, 44420)

Note: Education Code 44242.5 gives **the** CTC authority to review any of the violations described in items #1-3 below upon receiving notice from a district. Since the law does not require districts to report these violations to **the** CTC, the district should revise the following list to identify the types of violations that it will report and then ensure consistent implementation.

As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee also shall notify **the** CTC of any of the following:

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 44242.5, **the** CTC will not consider action on the basis of alleged sexual misconduct (item #1 below) unless there is evidence in the form of a written or oral declaration under penalty of perjury that confirms the personal knowledge of the declarant regarding the acts alleged to constitute misconduct.

EMPLOYMENT STATUS REPORTS (continued)

1. A complaint filed with the district regarding a certificated employee's alleged sexual misconduct (Education Code 44242.5)

(cf. 4119.24/4219.24/4319.24 - Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions)

The notice to **the** CTC shall contain all of the following information: (5 CCR 80304)

- a. Name of the employee alleged to have engaged in the sexual misconduct
- b. Name, age, and address of each victim of the alleged sexual misconduct
- c. A summary of all information known to the district regarding the alleged sexual misconduct
- d. A summary of the action, if any, taken at the district level in response to the complaint of sexual misconduct

(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees)
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment)
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment)

2. An employee's knowing and willful use of school records of student data in connection with, or in implicit or explicit attempts to recruit a student to be a customer for, any business owned by the certificated employee or in which the certificated employee is an employee (Education Code 44242.5, 44421.1)

(cf. 5125 - Student Records)

3. An employee's knowing and willful reporting of false fiscal expenditure data relative to the conduct of any educational program (Education Code 44242.5, 44421.5)
4. An employee's subversion or attempt to subvert any licensing examination or the administration of an examination (Education Code 44242.5, 44439)

Legal Reference: (see next page)

EMPLOYMENT STATUS REPORTS (continued)

Legal Reference:

EDUCATION CODE

- 44009 Conviction of specified crimes
- 44010 Sex offense, definitions
- 44011 Controlled substance offense, definitions
- 44030.5 Employment status reports
- 44225 Powers and duties of the CTC
- 44242.5 Reports and review of alleged misconduct
- 44420-44440 Adverse actions by CTC against credential holder
- 44932 Causes for dismissal
- 44940 Sex offenses and narcotic offenses; compulsory leave of absence
- 44940.5 Compulsory leave of absence
- 44955-44958 Reduction in force

PENAL CODE

187 Murder

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5

- 80303 Reports of change in employment status, alleged misconduct
- 80304 Notice of sexual misconduct

Management Resources:

COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING PUBLICATIONS

California's Laws and Rules Pertaining to the Discipline of Professional Certificated Personnel, 2013
2019

WEB SITES

CSBA: <http://www.csba.org>

Commission on Teacher Credentialing: <http://www.ctc.ca.gov>

(11/08 4/14) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Board Policy

Classified Personnel

BP 4218(a)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Note: The following policy is for use by districts that have not incorporated the merit system for classified employees pursuant to Education Code 45240-45320. For procedures applicable to districts that have incorporated the merit system, see BP/AR 4218.1 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action (Merit System).

The following policy is subject to collective bargaining and may be deleted or revised by any district whose collective bargaining agreement covers classified employee dismissal, suspension, and other disciplinary action.

The Governing Board expects all employees to perform their jobs satisfactorily and to exhibit professional and appropriate conduct. A classified employee may be disciplined for unprofessional conduct or unsatisfactory performance in accordance with law or any applicable collective bargaining agreement, Board policy, and administrative regulation.

(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees)
(cf. 4000 - Concepts and Roles)
(cf. 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check)
(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment)
(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards)
(cf. 4141/4241 - Collective Bargaining Agreement)
(cf. 4200 - Classified Personnel)

Disciplinary actions shall be based on the particular facts and circumstances involved and the severity of the employee's conduct or performance. The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that disciplinary actions are taken in a consistent, nondiscriminatory manner and are appropriately documented.

(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment)
(cf. 4112.6/4212.6/4312.6 - Personnel Files)
(cf. 4119.1/4219.1/4319.1 - Civil and Legal Rights)

Disciplinary actions may include, but are not limited to, verbal and written warnings, involuntary reassignment, demotion, suspension without pay, reduction of pay step in class, compulsory leave, and dismissal.

At any time prior to the expiration of the probationary period, the Superintendent or designee may, at his/her discretion, dismiss a probationary classified employee from district employment. A probationary employee shall not be entitled to a hearing. A probationary classified employee may be dismissed by the Superintendent or designee at any time prior to the expiration of the probationary period.

(cf. 4216 - Probationary/Permanent Status)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

Note: Education Code 45113 mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to prescribe, by written rule or regulation, causes and procedures for disciplinary action against permanent classified employees. Also see the accompanying administrative regulation.

Permanent classified employees shall be subject to personnel **disciplinary** action (~~suspension without pay, demotion, reduction of pay step in class, dismissal~~) only for cause **as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation**. The ~~Board's determination of the sufficiency of the cause for disciplinary action shall be conclusive.~~ (**Education Code 45113**)

Procedures for Disciplinary Proceedings

Note: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to Education Code 45113 and 45116, a permanent classified employee must be given notice of any recommendation for disciplinary action against the employee, including a time period during which the employee may request a hearing on the charges. See the section "Initiation and Notification of Charges" in the accompanying administrative regulation.

Pursuant to Education Code 45113, the Governing Board may delegate its authority to determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against classified employees, excluding peace officers as defined in Penal Code 830.32, to an impartial third-party hearing officer. Hearings conducted by the Board or a hearing officer are not subject to the procedures used by the Office of Administrative Hearings pursuant to Government Code 11500-11529. The following section is for use by boards who conduct their own hearing and should be revised by boards that use a hearing officer.

As amended by AB 2234 (Ch. 996, Statutes of 2018), Education Code 45113 requires the Board to delegate its authority to an administrative law judge in cases involving allegations of egregious misconduct with a minor. Egregious misconduct is defined as immoral conduct leading to an allegation of a sex offense pursuant to Education Code 44010, a controlled substance offense pursuant to Education Code 44011, or child abuse or neglect pursuant to Penal Code 11165.2-11165.6. In conducting hearings on such matters, the administrative law judge is required to comply with Education Code 44990-44994, as added by AB 2234, pertaining to the testimony of minor witnesses.

If a permanent classified employee receives a notice from the Superintendent or designee of a recommended suspension, demotion, involuntary reassignment, or dismissal, the employee may request a Board hearing on the matter.

~~If the employee fails to file a notice of appeal~~ **request a hearing** within the time specified ~~in the notice, in these rules, he/she shall be the employee is deemed to have waived his/her the right to appeal do so, and the Board may order the recommended personnel disciplinary action into effect immediately.~~

If a timely request is submitted, a hearing shall be conducted by the Board, ~~All hearings shall be heard by a hearing officer (who shall be an attorney licensed in the State of California.) except in those cases where the Board determines to hear the appeal itself.~~ **except that, if the matter involves an allegation of egregious misconduct as defined in**

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

Education Code 44932 and involves a minor, the matter shall be referred to an administrative law judge to determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against the employee. (Education Code 45113, 45312)

(cf. 3515.3 - District Police/Security Department)

~~In any case in which the Board hears the appeal, the Board may use the services of its counsel or a hearing officer in ruling upon procedural questions, objections to evidence, and issues of law. If the appeal is heard by the Board, the Board shall affirm, modify or revoke the recommended personnel action.~~

The hearing shall be held at the earliest convenient date, taking into consideration the established schedule of the Board ~~or hearing officer~~ and the availability of **legal** counsel and witnesses. The ~~parties~~ **employee** shall be notified of the time and place of the hearing.

The hearing shall be held in closed session, unless the employee requests that the matter be heard in an open session meeting. (Government Code 54957)

(cf. 9321 - Closed Session)

~~The employee shall be entitled to appear personally, produce evidence, and have counsel. The employee shall be entitled to a public hearing if he/she demands it when the Board is hearing the appeal. The complainant may also be represented by legal counsel. The procedure entitled "Administrative Adjudication" commencing with Government Code 11500 shall not apply to any such hearing before the Board or a hearing officer.~~

The Board may use the services of its **legal** counsel ~~or a hearing officer~~ in ruling upon procedural questions, objections to evidence, and issues of law. The Board ~~or the hearing officer~~ may **review and** consider the records of any prior personnel action proceedings against the employee in which a **personnel disciplinary** action was ultimately sustained and any records that were contained in the employee's personnel files and introduced into evidence at the hearing. Neither ~~the~~ **The** Board ~~nor a hearing officer~~ shall **not** be bound by rules of evidence used in California courts. Informality in any such hearing shall not invalidate any order or decision made ~~or approved by the hearing officer or the Board.~~

At any time before an employee's appeal ~~a matter~~ is finally submitted to the Board ~~or to a hearing officer~~ for decision, the complainant **the Superintendent or designee** may, with the consent of the Board ~~or hearing officer~~, serve on the employee and file with the Board an amended or supplemental recommendation of **personnel disciplinary** action. If the amended or supplemental recommendation ~~presents~~ **includes** new causes or allegations, the employee shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to prepare ~~his/her~~ **a** defense. Any new causes or allegations shall be deemed controverted and any objections to the amended or supplemental causes or allegation may be made orally at the hearing and shall be noted on the record.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

~~If the appeal is heard~~ **Following the hearing** by the Board, the Board shall affirm, modify, or revoke—**reject** the recommended personnel **disciplinary** action **recommended by the Superintendent or designee**. The decision of the Board shall be in writing and shall contain findings of fact and the personnel **disciplinary** action approved, if any. The decision of the Board shall be final.

If the appeal is heard by a hearing officer, he/she shall prepare a proposed decision in a form that may be adopted by the Board as the decision in the case. A copy of the proposed decision shall be received and filed by the Board and furnished to each party within 10 days after the proposed decision is filed by the Board. The Board may:

- (1) — Adopt the proposed decision in its entirety.
- (2) — Reduce the personnel action set forth in the proposed decision and adopt the balance of the proposed decision.
- (3) — Reject a proposed reduction in personnel action, approve the personnel action sought by the complainant or any lesser penalty, and adopt the balance of the proposed decision.
- (4) — Reject the proposed decision in its entirety.

d. — If the Board rejects the proposed decision in its entirety, each party shall be notified of such action and the Board may decide the case upon the record including the transcript, with or without the taking of additional evidence, or may refer the case to the same or another hearing officer to take additional evidence. If the case is so assigned to a hearing officer, he/she shall prepare a proposed decision, as provided in item "7c" above, upon the additional evidence and the transcript and other papers which are part of the record of the prior hearing. A copy of this proposed decision shall be furnished to each party within 10 days after the proposed decision is filed by the Board.

e. — In arriving at a decision or a proposed decision on the propriety of the proposed personnel action, the Board or the hearing officer may consider the records of any prior personnel action proceedings against the employee in which a personnel action was ultimately sustained and any records that were contained in the employee's personnel files and introduced into evidence at the hearing.

8. — Hearing Decision

— The decision of the Board shall be in writing and shall contain findings of fact and the personnel action approved, if any. The findings may reiterate the language of the pleadings or simply refer to them.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

The decision of the Board shall be certified to the Superintendent or designee who recommended the personnel action, and he/she shall enforce and follow this decision. Within 10 working days of the Board's final decision, a copy of the decision shall be delivered to the appellant or his/her employee and/or designated representative personally or by registered mail. The decision of the Board shall be final.

In cases involving an allegation of egregious misconduct, the ruling of the administrative law judge shall be binding on the district and the employee. (Education Code 45113)

*Legal Reference:*EDUCATION CODE

35161 Delegation of powers and duties

44009 Conviction of specified crimes

44010 Sex offense

44011 "Controlled substance offense" defined

44031 Personnel file

44940 Leave of absence; employee charged with mandatory or optional leave of absence offense

44940.5 Compulsory leave of absence; procedures; extension; compensation; bond or security; reports

44990-44994 Testimony of minor witnesses at dismissal or suspension hearings

45101 Definitions (including "disciplinary action," "cause")

45109 Fixing of duties

45113 Rules and regulations for classified service in districts not incorporating the merit system

45123 Employment after conviction of sex or narcotics offense

45124 Dismissal of sexual psychopath

45202 Transfer of accumulated sick leave and other benefits following dismissal

45240-45320 Merit system, classified employees

CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

1286.2 Grounds for vacating decision of arbitrator

GOVERNMENT CODE

11500-11529 Administrative adjudication

12900-12996 Fair Employment and Housing Act

54957 Brown Act open meeting laws; closed session

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE

11054 Schedule I; substances included

11055 Schedule II, substances included

11056 Schedule III, substances included

11357-11361 Marijuana

11363 Peyote

11364 Opium

11370.1 Possession of controlled substances with a firearm

Legal Reference continued: (see next page)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

Legal Reference: (continued)

PENAL CODE

187 Murder

667.5 Sex offenders

830.32 Peace officers employed by district

1192.7 Violent or serious felony

11165.2-11165.6 Child abuse or neglect, definitions

VEHICLE CODE

1808.8 School bus drivers; dismissal for safety-related cause

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42

12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act

COURT DECISIONS

California School Employees Association v. Bonita Unified School District, (2008) No. B200141

California School Employees v. Livingston Union School District, (2007) 149 Cal.App 4th 391

CSEA v. Foothill Community College District, (1975) 52 Cal. App. 3rd 150, 155-156, 124 Cal. Rptr. 830 (1975)

CSBA Sample

Administrative Regulation

Classified Personnel

AR 4218(a)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Termination of Probationary Employment

Note: In accordance with Education Code 35161, the Board can delegate to the Superintendent or designee the authority to dismiss probationary classified employees as set forth below.

At any time prior to the expiration of the probationary period, the Superintendent or designee may, at his/her discretion, dismiss a probationary classified employee from district employment. A probationary employee shall not be entitled to a hearing.

Involuntary Suspension Without Pay, Demotion, Reduction of Pay Step in Class, or Dismissal of Permanent Classified Employees

Permanent classified employees shall be subject to personnel action (suspension without pay, demotion, reduction of pay step in class, dismissal) only for cause. The Board's determination of the sufficiency of the cause for disciplinary action shall be conclusive.

Causes for Disciplinary Action

Note: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 45113 mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to prescribe, by rule or regulation, causes for disciplinary action against permanent classified employees. Pursuant to Education Code 45101, such employees may be disciplined only for cause as so prescribed. In merit system districts, causes for suspension or dismissal are those designated by rule of the commission and those specified in Education Code 45303. If negotiated collective bargaining agreements contain different provisions for employee discipline, those negotiated agreements would take precedence over this regulation for those employees covered by the collective bargaining agreements.

1. Causes

In addition to any disqualifying or actionable causes otherwise provided for by statute or by policy or regulation of this district, each of the following constitutes cause for personnel action against a permanent classified employee: A permanent classified employee may be subject to suspension, demotion, involuntary reassignment, or dismissal for one or more of the following causes:

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 45122.1, 45123, and 45124, districts that use the merit system may not employ or continue to employ anyone who has been convicted of a specified sex offense, controlled substance offense, or violent or serious offense as defined described in item #1, except for employees who have been rehabilitated or had their conviction reversed or the charges dismissed. In addition, these districts may not employ anyone who has been convicted of a controlled substance offense unless the Board determines from the evidence it requires that the person has been rehabilitated for at least five years. Also see AR 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

k.1. Immoral conduct, including, but not limited to, egregious misconduct that is the basis for a sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010, a controlled substance offense as defined in Education Code 44011, or child abuse and neglect as described in Penal Code 11165.2-11165.6

(cf. 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check)

(cf. 4119.24/4219.24/4319.24 - Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions)

(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting)

2. Conduct that constitutes a violent or serious felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) or 1192.7(c)

t.3. Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, marital status, sex, or age against the public or other employees while acting in the capacity of a district employee against any student or other employee

(cf. 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment)

(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment)

(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment)

p.4. Violation of or refusal to obey state or federal law or regulation, district, Board or departmental rule, policy, or district or school procedure.

a.5. Falsifying Falsification of any information supplied to the **school** district, including, but not limited to, information supplied on application forms, employment records, or any other school district records.

b.6. Unsatisfactory performance Incompetency.

c. Inefficiency.

7. Unprofessional conduct

f.8. Dishonesty.

d.9. Neglect of duty or absence without leave.

e.10. Insubordination.

f. Dishonesty.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

- g.11.** ~~Drinking alcoholic beverages~~ **Use of alcohol or a controlled substance** while on duty or in such close time proximity thereto as to ~~cause any detrimental effect upon~~ **affect** the employee's **performance** ~~or upon employees associated with him/her.~~

(cf. 4020 - Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace)

(cf. 4112.41/4212.41/4312.41 - Employee Drug Testing)

(cf. 4112.42/4212.42/4312.42 - Drug and Alcohol Testing for School Bus Drivers)

(cf. 4159/4259/4359 - Employee Assistance Program)

Note: The following cause for disciplinary action deliberately makes no mention of drug addiction. It is not against the law to be an addict, and punishing someone for being an addict could lead to discrimination claims under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

- h.** ~~Possessing or being under the influence of a controlled substance at work or away from work, or furnishing a controlled substance to a minor.~~

- i.** ~~Conviction of a felony, conviction of any sex offense made relevant by provisions of law, or conviction of a misdemeanor which is of such a nature as to adversely affect the employee's ability to perform the duties and responsibilities of his/her position. A plea or verdict of guilty, or a conviction following a plea of nolo contendere, is deemed to be a conviction for this purpose.~~

- j.** ~~Absence without leave.~~

- k.** ~~Immoral conduct~~

- l.** ~~Discourteous treatment of the public, students, or other employees.~~

- m.** ~~Improper political activity.~~

- n.** ~~Willful disobedience.~~

- o.12.** **Destruction or misuse of district property.**

(cf. 4040 - Employee Use of Technology)

- p.** ~~Violation of district, Board or departmental rule, policy, or procedure.~~

- q.13.** Failure to ~~possess or keep in effect~~ **fulfill any ongoing condition of employment including, but not limited to, maintenance of** any license, certificate, or other similar requirement specified in the employee's class specification or otherwise necessary for the employee to perform the duties of the position.

(cf. 4112.4/4212.4/4312.4 - Health Examinations)

(cf. 4212 - Appointment and Conditions of Employment)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

r. — Refusal to take and subscribe any oath or affirmation which is required by law in connection with his/her employment.

Note: Pursuant to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (42 USC 12101-12213) and the state's Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code 12900-12996), the district has a duty to reasonably accommodate qualified employees with known disabilities, except when such accommodation would cause an undue hardship to the district. This accommodation is not required for individuals who are not otherwise qualified for the job.

s.14. A physical or mental **disability condition** which precludes the employee from the proper performance of his/her duties and responsibilities as determined by competent medical authority, except as otherwise provided by a contract or by law **regulating the retirement of employees.**

(cf. 4030 - Nondiscrimination in Employment)

(cf. 4032 - Reasonable Accommodation)

t. — Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, marital status, sex, or age against the public or other employees while acting in the capacity of a district employee.

u.15. Unlawful **r**Retaliation against any **other district officer or employee or member of the public person** who, in good faith, reports, discloses, divulges, or otherwise brings to the attention of any appropriate authority any information relative to an actual or suspected violation of state or federal law occurring on **or directly related to** the job **or directly related thereto.**

(cf. 4119.1/4219.1/4319.1 - Civil and Legal Rights)

16. **Violation of Education Code 45303 or Government Code 1028 (advocacy of communism)**

v.17. Any other **failure of good behavior** either during or outside of duty hours **misconduct** which is of such nature that it causes discredit **or injury** to the district or **his/her** the **employee's position** employment.

An employee shall not be suspended, disciplined, reassigned, transferred, dismissed, or otherwise retaliated against solely for acting to protect a student, or for refusing to infringe on a student's protected conduct, when that student is exercising free speech or press rights pursuant to Education Code 48907 or 48950. (Education Code 48907, 48950)

(cf. 5145.2 - Freedom of Speech/Expression)

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

Except as defined in item "s" above, no personnel **No disciplinary** action shall be taken for any cause which arose before the employee became permanent, nor for any cause which arose more than two years before the date of the filing of the notice of cause unless this cause was concealed or not disclosed by the employee when it could be reasonably assumed that the employee would have disclosed the facts to the district. **(Education Code 45113)**

(cf. 4216 - Probationary/Permanent Status)

2. — Initiation and Notification of Charges

Note: ~~In districts not incorporating the merit system,~~ Education Code 45113 **mandates the Board districts** to adopt disciplinary procedures which contain provisions for giving classified employees a written notice of specific charges, ~~procedures, and employee rights,~~ **the employee's right to a hearing on those charges, the time within which the hearing may be requested, and a card or paper to complete to request a hearing.**

~~The Superintendent or designee may initiate a personnel action as defined herein against a permanent classified employee.~~

~~In all cases involving a personnel action, the person initiating the action~~ **The Superintendent or designee** shall file ~~a written~~ **any** recommendation ~~of personnel~~ **for a disciplinary** action **in writing** with the **Governing** Board. A copy of the recommendation shall be served upon the employee either personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the employee's last known address.

The ~~recommendation~~ **notice** shall, **in ordinary and concise language,** ~~include:~~ **inform the employee of the specific charge(s) or cause(s) for the disciplinary action, the specific acts and omissions upon which the action is based, and, if applicable, the district rule or regulation that the employee has allegedly violated. In addition, the notice shall include the employee's right to a hearing on those charges, the time within which the hearing may be requested which shall be not less than five days after service of the notice to the employee, and a card or paper which the employee may sign and file to deny the charges and request a hearing. (Education Code 45113, 45116)**

(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications)

- a. ~~A statement of the nature of the personnel action (suspension without pay, demotion, reduction of pay step in class, or dismissal).~~
- b. ~~A statement of the cause or causes for the personnel action, as set forth above.~~
- e. ~~A statement of the specific acts or omissions upon which the causes are based. If a violation of rule, policy, or regulation of the district is alleged, the rule, policy, or regulation violated shall be stated in the recommendation.~~

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

d. A statement of the employee's right to appeal the recommendation and the manner and time within which the appeal must be filed.

e. A card or paper, the signing and filing of which shall constitute a demand for hearing and a denial of all charges.

3. Employment Status Pending Appeal or Waiver

Except as provided herein, any employee against whom a recommendation of personnel action has been issued shall remain on active duty status and responsible for fulfilling the duties of the position pending his/her appeal, or waiver thereof. If the Superintendent or designee determines that a permanent classified employee should be dismissed and that his/her continuing in active duty status would present an unreasonable risk of harm to students, staff, or property while proceedings are pending, the Superintendent or designee may order the employee immediately suspended from duty without pay in conjunction with the recommendation of personnel action. This suspension order shall be in writing and shall state the reasons that the suspension is deemed necessary. The suspension order shall be served upon the employee either personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, immediately after issuance.

Except in cases of emergency when the employee must be removed from the premises immediately, the Superintendent or designee shall give the employee written notice of the proposed recommendation of dismissal at least five calendar days before the effective date of any order of suspension issued in conjunction with a recommendation involving dismissal. This notice shall state that immediate suspension without pay is being considered, the reasons for the proposed dismissal and proposed immediate suspension without pay, materials upon which the proposed action is based, and the employee's right to respond to the Superintendent or designee orally or in writing before the final recommendation and order are issued.

4. Time Limit of Suspension

Except for a suspension imposed under #3 above, any suspension invoked under these rules against any one person for one or more periods shall not aggregate more than 90 calendar days in any 12-month period; however, this time limitation shall not apply to cases in which a personnel action of dismissal is modified by the Board to a suspension.

5. Right to Appeal Request for Hearing

Note: In *California School Employees Association v. Livingston Union School District*, a district's policy, pursuant to Education Code 45113, required that the employee be provided written notice of his right to request a hearing on the charges within five days "after service of the notice." The notice was delivered via

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

certified mail to the employee's post office box, but the employee did not actually receive the notice until several months later. The district denied the employee's late request for a hearing on the grounds that it was not received within five days from the date the notice was mailed. The court held that the district's notice was invalid because it was not "reasonably calculated" to notify the employee of the action and to afford him an opportunity to request a hearing. Thus, when calculating the five day response timeline, districts should be careful to ensure that the notice has first been received by the employee. As provided in the section "Initiation and Notification of Charges" above, Education Code 45113 requires that the notice of disciplinary action include the time within which a hearing may be requested, which cannot be less than five days after service of the notice to the employee. In California School Employees Association v. Livingston Union School District, the appeals court ruled that the district failed to provide due process to an employee when it denied the employee the opportunity to request a hearing based on the employee's failure to respond within five days after service of the notice. The district's policy had established the date of "service of the notice" as the date of mailing, but the employee was a 10-month employee who was out of town when the notice was delivered. The court held that the notice was not "reasonably calculated" to provide an opportunity to timely request a hearing. Thus, it is recommended that districts use the date of the employee's receipt of the notice as the date upon which the five-day response period begins.

Within five calendar days after receiving the time specified in the notice of the recommendation of personnel disciplinary action described above, the employee may appeal request a hearing on the charges by signing and filing the card or paper included with the recommendation notice. (Education Code 45113)

Any other written document signed and appropriately filed within the specified time limit by the employee shall constitute a sufficient notice of appeal the request for a hearing. A notice of appeal is filed only by delivering the The notice of appeal request shall be delivered to the office of the Superintendent or designee during normal work hours of that office. A notice of appeal may be If mailed to the office of the Superintendent or designee, it but must be received or postmarked no later than the time limit stated herein specified by the district. In cases where an order of suspension without pay has been issued in conjunction with a recommendation of dismissal, any appeal of the recommendation of request for a hearing on the dismissal shall also constitute an appeal of a request to hear the suspension order, and the necessity of the suspension order shall be an issue in the appeal hearing.

If the employee fails to file a notice of appeal within the time specified, in these rules, he/she shall be deemed to have waived his/her right to appeal, and the Board may order the recommended personnel action into effect immediately.

3. Employment Status Pending a Hearing Appeal or Waiver

Except as provided herein, any A classified employee against whom a recommendation of personnel disciplinary action has been issued shall remain on active duty status and responsible for fulfilling the duties of the position pending his/her appeal, or waiver thereof, pending any hearing on the charges, unless If the Superintendent or designee determines

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

that a permanent classified employee should be dismissed and that his/her continuing **the employee's continuance** in active duty status would present an unreasonable risk of harm to students, staff, or property. while proceedings are pending, the **The** Superintendent or designee may, **in writing**, order the employee immediately suspended from duty without pay in conjunction with the recommendation of personnel action. This suspension order shall be **in writing** and shall state the reasons that the suspension is deemed necessary. The suspension order shall be served upon the employee either personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, immediately after issuance.

6. — Amended/Supplemental Charges

At any time before an employee's appeal is finally submitted to the Board or to a hearing officer for decision, the complainant may, with the consent of the Board or hearing officer, serve on the employee and file with the Board an amended or supplemental recommendation of personnel action. If the amended or supplemental recommendation presents new causes or allegations, the employee shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to prepare his/her defense. Any new causes or allegations shall be deemed controverted and any objections to the amended or supplemental causes or allegation may be made orally at the hearing and shall be noted on the record.

7. — Hearing Procedures

a. — The hearing shall be held at the earliest convenient date, taking into consideration the established schedule of the Board or hearing officer and the availability of counsel and witnesses. The parties shall be notified of the time and place of the hearing. The employee shall be entitled to appear personally, produce evidence, and have counsel. The employee shall be entitled to a public hearing if he/she demands it when the Board is hearing the appeal. The complainant may also be represented by counsel. The procedure entitled "Administrative Adjudication" commencing with Government Code 1150 shall not apply to any such hearing before the Board or a hearing officer. Neither the Board nor a hearing officer shall be bound by rules of evidence used in California courts. Informality in any such hearing shall not invalidate any order or decision made or approved by the hearing officer or the Board.

b. — All hearings shall be heard by a hearing officer (who shall be an attorney licensed in the State of California) except in those cases where the Board determines to hear the appeal itself. In any case in which the Board hears the appeal, the Board may use the services of its counsel or a hearing officer in ruling upon procedural questions, objections to evidence, and issues of law. If the appeal is heard by the Board, the Board shall affirm, modify or revoke the recommended personnel action.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

c. — If the appeal is heard by a hearing officer, he/she shall prepare a proposed decision in a form that may be adopted by the Board as the decision in the case. A copy of the proposed decision shall be received and filed by the Board and furnished to each party within 10 days after the proposed decision is filed by the Board. The Board may:

(1) — Adopt the proposed decision in its entirety.

(2) — Reduce the personnel action set forth in the proposed decision and adopt the balance of the proposed decision.

(3) — Reject a proposed reduction in personnel action, approve the personnel action sought by the complainant or any lesser penalty, and adopt the balance of the proposed decision.

(4) — Reject the proposed decision in its entirety.

d. — If the Board rejects the proposed decision in its entirety, each party shall be notified of such action and the Board may decide the case upon the record including the transcript, with or without the taking of additional evidence, or may refer the case to the same or another hearing officer to take additional evidence. If the case is so assigned to a hearing officer, he/she shall prepare a proposed decision, as provided in item "7c" above, upon the additional evidence and the transcript and other papers which are part of the record of the prior hearing. A copy of this proposed decision shall be furnished to each party within 10 days after the proposed decision is filed by the Board.

e. — In arriving at a decision or a proposed decision on the propriety of the proposed personnel action, the Board or the hearing officer may consider the records of any prior personnel action proceedings against the employee in which a personnel action was ultimately sustained and any records that were contained in the employee's personnel files and introduced into evidence at the hearing.

8. — Hearing Decision

The decision of the Board shall be in writing and shall contain findings of fact and the personnel action approved, if any. The findings may reiterate the language of the pleadings or simply refer to them.

The decision of the Board shall be certified to the Superintendent or designee who recommended the personnel action, and he/she shall enforce and follow this decision.

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

A copy of the decision shall be delivered to the appellant or his/her designated representative personally or by registered mail. The decision of the Board shall be final.

4. Time Limit of Suspension

Except for a suspension imposed under #3 above, any suspension invoked under these rules against any one person for one or more periods shall not aggregate more than 90 calendar days in any 12-month period; however, this time limitation shall not apply to cases in which a personnel action of dismissal is modified by the Board to a suspension.

OPTION 1- Nonmerit System Districts**9. Compulsory Dismissal**

Note: This section applies to districts that have not adopted the merit system. Pursuant to Education Code 45123, these districts may not employ or continue to employ anyone who has been convicted of any sex offense as described below. In addition, these districts may not employ anyone who has been convicted of a controlled substance offense as described below unless the Board determines from the evidence it requires that the person has been rehabilitated for at least five years.

The district shall not employ or retain in employment any person who has been convicted of any sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010 or any controlled substance offense as defined in Education Code 44011. However, the district may employ a person convicted of a controlled substance offense if the Board determines from the evidence it requires that the person has been rehabilitated for at least five years. If any such conviction is reversed and the person acquitted or charges dismissed except as otherwise provided below, the employee may be reemployed by the district, although reemployment is not a guarantee. (Education Code 45123)

The district reserves the right to dismiss an employee for any acts upon which the original criminal charges were based, despite the disposition by the courts. If dismissal is recommended and upheld, an employee will not be reemployed or compensated for the time he/she was suspended unless otherwise required by law. An employee shall be given notice of the possibility of not being reimbursed during mandatory suspension if he/she is ultimately dismissed for the acts upon which the original charges were based.

OPTION 2- Merit System Districts**9. Compulsory Leave of Absence**

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

Note: Education Code 45304 requires that the Board in merit system districts immediately place on compulsory leave of absence any district or county office of education employee who is charged with a "mandatory leave of absence offense" as defined in Education Code 44940. Mandatory leave offenses are sex offenses and offenses involving the furnishing of certain drugs to minors. The Board may require compulsory leave for an employee charged with an "optional leave of absence offense." Optional leave of absence offenses are offenses involving murder, attempted murder, and the possession or sale of certain drugs. State law requires that classified employees in merit system districts and certificated employees be immediately placed on compulsory leave of absence following conviction for certain offenses specified in Education Code 44940, and gives districts discretion to place such employees on leave for other specified offenses. Although existing state law does not explicitly provide for application to classified employees in nonmerit system districts, such districts have authority pursuant to Education Code 45113 to establish causes for suspension or dismissal. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice.

Employees charged with a "mandatory leave of absence offense" as defined in Education Code 44940 shall be placed immediately on compulsory leave of absence for not more than 10 days after entry of judgment in the criminal proceedings, unless the leave is extended as provided below. (Education Code 45304)

Employees charged with an optional leave of absence offense as defined in Education Code 44940 may be placed immediately on compulsory leave of absence under the terms and conditions stated below. (Education Code 45304)

Despite the disposition of criminal charges, the Board reserves the right to dismiss an employee for the facts upon which the criminal charges were based. An employee ultimately found guilty by the Personnel Commission to have committed the acts upon which the original charges were based may be dismissed. If so dismissed, the employee is not entitled to compensation during the time of his/her suspension, unless otherwise required by law. An employee shall be given notice of the possibility of being dismissed without pay during the compulsory suspension if he/she is ultimately found guilty of the acts leading to the criminal charges, despite the disposition of the charges by the court.

Upon being informed by law enforcement that a classified employee has been charged with a "mandatory leave of absence offense," the Superintendent or designee shall immediately place the employee on a leave of absence. A mandatory leave of absence offense includes:

1. Any sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010
2. Violation or attempted violation of Penal Code 187 (murder or attempted murder)
3. Any offense involving the unlawful sale, use, or exchange to minors of controlled substances as listed in Health and Safety Code 11054, 11055, and 11056

DISMISSAL/SUSPENSION/DISCIPLINARY ACTION (continued)

The Superintendent or designee may place on an immediate compulsory leave of absence a classified employee who is charged with an "optional leave of absence offense," defined as a controlled substance offense specified in Education Code 44011 and Health and Safety Code 11357-11361, 11363, 11364, and 11370.1 except as it relates to marijuana, mescaline, peyote, or tetrahydrocannabinols.

An employee's compulsory leave for a mandatory or optional leave of absence offense may extend for not more than 10 days after the entry of judgment in the criminal proceedings. However, the compulsory leave may be extended if the Board gives notice, within 10 days after the entry of judgment in the proceedings, that the employee will be dismissed within 30 days from the date of service of the notice unless the employee demands a hearing on the dismissal.

10. — Extension of Compulsory Leave

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 45304, employees placed on compulsory leave are subject to the procedures of Education Code 44940.5.

The Board may extend an employee's compulsory leave of absence by giving him/her notice, within 10 days after the entry of judgment in the proceedings, that he/she will be dismissed in 30 days unless he/she demands a hearing. Employee compensation during the period of compulsory leave shall be made in accordance with law. (Education Code 44940.5)

(3/90 6/94) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Board Policy

Students

BP 5136(a)

GANGS

Note: The following optional policy and regulation may be used as a component of a the district's comprehensive district safety plan and should be revised to reflect district circumstances practice. See BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan.

The National Gang Center, in its publication Gangs in Schools, recommends adopting policy that addresses gang-related incidents.

The Governing Board desires to keep district schools free from the threats or harmful influence of any groups or gangs which who exhibit drug use, violence or disruptive behavior disruptive to the school environment and/or the safety and well-being of students. The Board additionally desires to provide support and intervention to students who are members of gangs to enable them to successfully disengage from gang involvement and be successful in school. The Superintendent or designee shall take steps to deter gang intimidation of students and staff and confrontations between members of different gangs. He/she shall exchange information and establish mutually supportive efforts with local law enforcement authorities.

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan)

(cf. 3513.4 - Drug and Alcohol Free Schools)

(cf. 5131.4 - Student Disturbances)

(cf. 5131.6 - Alcohol and Other Drugs)

(cf. 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments)

(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate)

Note: Education Code 51265 urges districts to give high priority to inservice programs on gang violence and substance abuse prevention education.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide inservice training which helps staff to identify gangs and gang symbols, recognize early manifestations of disruptive activities, and respond appropriately to gang behavior. Staff shall be informed about conflict management techniques and alerted to intervention measures and community resources.

Note: The following paragraph is based on the Los Angeles Police Department's "Why Young People Join Gangs," available on its web site.

The Board realizes that students become involved in gangs for many reasons, such as peer pressure, the need for a sense of belonging, and lack of refusal skills. The Superintendent or designee shall develop strategies for gang prevention that address the reasons that students may become involved in gangs, including the identity, recognition, or status achieved as being part of a gang, protection from gang violence in the community, the need for companionship and an extended family, intimidation to join a gang, desire to

GANGS (continued)

join a gang to be in a position to intimidate others, and/or connection with criminal activity.

Note: The following paragraph reflects recommendations in the National Gang Center's Strategic Planning Tool and Gangs in Schools, both available on its web site.

Age-appropriate gang violence prevention education shall start with students in the early elementary grades and may start in kindergarten. Gang violence prevention shall start as early as possible and include, but not be limited to, age-appropriate education that focuses on developing emotional and social competence, increasing prosocial peer bonds, strengthening attachment and commitment to school, and enhancing cooperative learning skills. Prevention shall also include improving parent/guardian involvement in and support for their children's academic progress, as well as ongoing gang awareness education for parents/guardians, including gang identifiers.

(cf. 5020 - Parent Involvement)

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services)

The Superintendent or designee shall take steps to deter gang activity on school campuses, including threats and intimidation of students and staff, recruitment or intimidation of students to join gangs, bullying, fighting, criminal activities, and confrontations between members of different gangs.

(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying)

Note: Education Code 35183 authorizes the Governing Board to approve a site-initiated plan that prohibits the school's students from wearing gang-related apparel. The definition of "gang-related apparel" must be limited to apparel that reasonably could be determined to threaten the health and safety of the school environment, and the Board's approval must be based on a determination the policy is necessary for the health and safety of the school environment. In Marvin H. Jeglin et al v. San Jacinto Unified School District et al, a federal district court held that in order to justify a gang-related dress code, there must be evidence of a gang presence at a school and actual or threatened disruption or material interference with school activity. Education Code 32282 specifies that for the purpose of establishing a schoolwide dress code, gang-related apparel shall not be considered a protected form of speech pursuant to Education Code 48950. For further information, see BP/AR 5132 - Dress and Grooming.

To further discourage the influence of gangs, the The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that school rules of conduct and any school dress code prohibiting gang-related apparel are enforced consistently. If a student exhibits signs of gang affiliation, staff shall so inform the principal or designee and the student's parent/guardian.

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan)

(cf. 5132 - Dress and Grooming)

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services)

GANGS (continued)

Note: Education Code 51265 urges districts to give high priority to in-service **training** programs on gang violence and substance abuse prevention education.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide in-service training which helps staff to identify gangs and gang symbols, recognize early manifestations of disruptive activities, and respond appropriately to gang behavior. Staff shall be informed about conflict management techniques and alerted to intervention measures and community resources. **The Superintendent or designee shall also provide staff development on social and emotional learning, classroom management, interactive teaching, and cooperative learning skills.**

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development)

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development)

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development)

The Superintendent or designee may consider gang activity prevention and intervention when developing programs outside of the school day.

(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development)

(cf. 5148.2 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education)

(cf. 5148.3 - Before/After School Programs)

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities)

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition)

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with child welfare services, mental health agencies, social services, and local law enforcement authorities in the prevention and intervention of gang activity.

(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools)

Legal Reference: (see next page)

GANGS (continued)

Legal Reference:

EDUCATION CODE

32282 School safety plans

35183 Gang-related apparel

48907 Student exercise of free expression

48950 Student freedom of speech

51264 Educational inservice training; CDE guidelines

51265 Gang violence and drug and alcohol abuse prevention inservice training

51266-51266.5 Model gang and substance abuse prevention curriculum

PENAL CODE

186.22 Participation in criminal street gang

13826-13826.7 Gang violence suppression

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20

7101-7122 Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants

Management Resources:

LOS ANGELES POLICE DEPARTMENT PUBLICATIONS

Why Young People Join Gangs

NATIONAL GANG CENTER PUBLICATIONS

Strategic Planning Tool

Gangs in Schools, March 2019

Parents' Guide to Gangs, July 2015

WEB SITES

California Cities Gang Prevention Network: <http://www.ccgpn.org>

California Department of Education: <https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/ss/sa>

Gang Resistance Education and Training: <https://www.great-online.org/GREAT-Home>

Los Angeles Police Department, Gangs:

http://www.lapdonline.org/get_informed/content_basic_view/1396

Homeboy Industries: <https://homeboyindustries.org>

National Gang Center: <https://www.nationalgangcenter.gov>

(10/95 10/96) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Administrative Regulation

Students

AR 5136(a)

GANGS

Note: The following optional administrative regulation may be revised to reflect district practice.

Prevention, and Intervention, and Suppression Measures

Note: The following optional administrative regulation may be revised to reflect district practice.

Districts may consider utilizing the Gang Resistance Education and Training Program (G.R.E.A.T.) for students in grades 4-7. Taught by local law enforcement, the program is designed to create stronger bonds with students and their communities and has a family component aimed at strengthening the resiliency of individual families susceptible to gang influences.

The Superintendent or designee shall become informed of the gang history in the district and community, conduct assessments of current gang activity at the school sites, and document and follow up on gang-related incidents.

In order to discourage the influence of gangs, school staff shall take the following measures shall be implemented:

1. Any student suspected of gang affiliation based on the displaying of behavior, gestures, apparel, or paraphernalia indicative of gang affiliation shall be referred to the principal or designee, and the following actions taken, as appropriate:

- a. The student's parent/guardian shall be contacted and may be asked to meet with school staff in order to proactively address the concern and be included as part of the solution.
- b. The student may be sent home to change clothes if necessary.

(cf. 5132 - Dress and Grooming)

- c. The student's behaviors and progress in school shall be documented, including attendance and grades.

(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses)

(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy)

(cf. 5113.11 - Attendance Supervision)

(cf. 5113.12 - District School Attendance Review Board)

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services)

GANGS (continued)

d. Intervention techniques such as mentoring, academic support, and a system of wraparound support service shall be implemented to help the student disengage from gang involvement.

e. Consistent and graduated discipline and accountability shall be implemented when appropriate and combined with positive support using conflict-resolution strategies and other restorative justice practices demonstrated to be effective with gang-involved youth.

2. ~~Staff members shall be provided with the names of known gang members.~~

~~3.~~

f. ~~Students who seek~~ Students shall be offered help in rejecting gang associations, including possible referral ~~may be referred~~ to community-based gang suppression and prevention organizations.

g. Law enforcement shall be notified if the student is suspected of being involved in gangs.

(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools)

4.2. Any ~~gang~~ graffiti on school premises shall be removed, washed down, or painted over as soon as discovered. Graffiti shall be **documented and** photographed before it is removed. These photographs shall be shared with local law enforcement authorities and used in future disciplinary or criminal action against the offenders. **This information can also be used to determine whether a threat or incident is imminent.**

a. ~~Daily checks for graffiti shall be made throughout the campus.~~

b. ~~Graffiti shall be photographed before it is removed. These photographs shall be shared with local law enforcement authorities and used in future disciplinary or criminal action against the offenders.~~

(cf. 3515 - Campus Security)

(cf. 5131.5 - Vandalism and Graffiti)

5.3. Classroom and after-school programs **may include gang prevention lessons that are taught jointly by teachers, counselors, law enforcement, and/or other organizations that are knowledgeable about gang prevention and at each school shall:** ~~be designed to enhance individual self-esteem, provide positive reinforcement for acceptable behavior, and foster interest in a variety of constructive activities. These programs shall also:~~

GANGS (continued)

- a.** Provide social and emotional learning designed to enhance individual self-esteem, provide positive reinforcement for acceptable behavior, and foster interest in a variety of constructive activities
- a.b.** Explain the dangers of gang membership
- b.c.** Provide counseling for targeted at-risk students
- e.d.** Include lessons or role-playing workshops in gang avoidance skills and nonviolent conflict resolution, including communication skills, **anti-bullying**, anger management, **acceptance** ~~ethnic/cultural tolerance~~, and mediation skills

(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying)

- d.e.** Assign individual gang members to cooperative learning groups in which they may work toward common goals with students who are not members of their gang
- e.f.** Provide school-to-career instruction
- f.g.** Provide positive interaction with local law enforcement **staff**

(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate)

Gang prevention lessons may be taught jointly by teachers and law enforcement staff.

- 6.4.** Staff shall actively promote membership in authorized **school clubs and** student organizations, sports and cultural activities and affiliations with the local community, and community service projects which can provide students companionship, safety, and a sense of purpose and belonging, **including:**
 - a.** ~~Positive sports and cultural activities and affiliations with the local community~~

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities)

(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes)

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition)

- b.** ~~Structured, goal-oriented community service projects~~

(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes)

Parent/Guardian and Community Outreach

Note: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. ~~is offered for districts that wish to provide gang education programs for parents/guardians or the community.~~

GANGS (continued)

The Superintendent or designee may offer gGang prevention classes or counseling **offered** for parents/guardians **which may shall** address the following topics:

1. The reasons students join gangs

1.2. The dangers **and consequences** of gang membership

2.3. Warning signs which may indicate that **children students** are at risk of becoming involved with gangs, **including the use of social media for gang communication and promotion**

3.4. The nature of local gang apparel and graffiti

4.5. Effective parenting techniques **and planning family time**

5.6. Conflict resolution techniques

In addition, the Superintendent or designee may offer cCommunity programs **shall that** address: **1. T**he scope and nature of local gang problems **and 2. S**strategies by which each segment of the community may alleviate gang problems.

(10/95 10/96) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Board Policy

Instruction

BP 6142.2(a)

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION

Note: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice.

Education Code 51220 requires districts that serve students in grades 7-12 to offer courses in world languages. In January 2019, the State Board of Education adopted revised content standards and proficiency levels for world languages. The 2003 Foreign Language Framework for California Public Schools does not reflect current content standards and is scheduled to be updated in May 2020.

The following policy may be revised by districts that do not maintain any of grades 7-12. Districts that do not maintain secondary schools may adapt this policy to reflect any elementary school K-6 programs designed to develop student's literacy in a language other than English. Education Code 51212 states legislative intent to encourage programs of world language (foreign language) instruction as early as feasible for the district.

In order to prepare students for global citizenship and to broaden their intercultural understanding and career opportunities, the Governing Board shall provide students with opportunities to develop linguistic proficiency **communicative** and cultural **proficiency and** literacy in one or more world languages **in addition to English**.

Note: The California Department of Education's (CDE) Foreign Language Framework for California Public Schools encourages districts to offer as many language course options as possible. Within the context of the CDE's framework, the following paragraph may be revised to reflect language courses available in the district. The revised state content standards acknowledge the need for the study of a wide variety of languages, and recognize American Sign Language is recognized as a foreign world language.

The following paragraph may be revised to reflect language courses available in the district.

The Superintendent or designee shall recommend **a variety of** world languages to be taught in the district's educational program based on student interest, community needs, and available resources. He/she shall also consider providing English learners the opportunity to study their heritage language, when such a course is available, in order to continue developing skills in that language.

For any program designed to provide students with instruction in a language other than English to a degree sufficient to produce proficiency in that language, the Superintendent or designee shall establish a process for schools to receive and respond to input from parents/guardians and other stakeholders regarding the non-English language in which instruction will be provided. (5 CCR 11300, 11312)

If American Sign Language courses **are offered, they** shall be open to all students regardless of hearing status.

(cf. 6174 – Education for English Learners)

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

Note: On January 7, 2009, the State Board of Education (SBE) adopted voluntary content standards for world languages for grades K-12; see the accompanying administrative regulation. Education Code 60605.5, as added by AB 2290 (Ch. 643, Statutes of 2016), requires the Superintendent of Public Instruction to recommend revisions to the standards and requires the SBE to adopt, reject, or modify the recommended revisions by March 31, 2019. The 2003 Foreign Language Framework for California Public Schools does not reflect current content standards and is scheduled to be updated in 2020.

In addition, Education Code 51228 requires districts to offer students in grades 7-12 a course of study that fulfills the requirements and prerequisites for admission to California colleges and universities; see BP 6143 - Courses of Study. Admissions criteria for California State University and University of California include two years of coursework in one foreign language other than English that has been approved by the University of California. "Frequently Asked Questions" in the University of California's A-G Policy Resource Guide, available on its web site, clarify that American Sign Language may be used to fulfill the requirement if used with a language other than English, but signing in English will not satisfy the requirement. The following paragraph may be revised by districts that do not maintain any of grades 7-12.

The district shall offer a sequential curriculum aligned with the state content standards, state curriculum framework, and, as applicable, California university admission requirements for languages other than English.

(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards)

(cf. 6141 - Curriculum Development and Evaluation)

Note: The following paragraph is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 7-12 and may be revised to reflect the grade levels at which instruction in world languages will be offered in the district. Education Code 51220 requires that the adopted course of study for grades 7-12, beginning no later than grade 7, include instruction in world languages designed to develop a facility for understanding, speaking, reading, and writing the particular language; see AR 6143 - Courses of Study.

Instruction in world languages shall be offered to secondary school students beginning no later than grade 7 and shall be designed to develop students' skills in understanding, speaking, reading, and writing the language. (Education Code 51220)

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study)

Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that maintain one or more high schools. Education Code 51225.3 requires high school students to complete a one-year course in either foreign language, American Sign Language, or visual and performing arts as a condition of high school graduation; see BP 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. Pursuant to Education Code 51243-51245 and 5 CCR 1632, foreign language instruction completed in a private school must be granted credit toward high school graduation provided that the instruction meets specified standards and conditions; see BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation.

A number of districts have chosen to present a biliteracy award upon high school graduation to students who demonstrate proficiency in speaking, reading, and writing skills in one or more languages in addition to English; see BP/AR 5126 - Awards for Achievement.

WORLD~~FOREIGN~~ LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

Students shall obtain credit toward high school graduation requirements for completion of a one-year course in a world language or American Sign Language during grades 9-12.

(cf. 5126 – Awards for Achievement)

(cf. 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements)

(cf. 6146.11 – Alternative Credits Toward Graduation)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph is for use by districts that choose to offer a dual-language immersion program and may be revised to reflect district practice. ~~Effective July 1, 2017, Proposition 58 (November 2016) amended Education Code 305-310 and repealed Education Code 311 to authorize parents/guardians of English learners to select a language acquisition program that best suits their child. Districts must offer a structured English immersion program in which nearly all of the instruction is in English, and may offer dual-language immersion programs or other language acquisition programs. Also see BP/AR 6174 – Education for English Learners. The CDE and the The Center for Applied Linguistics notes that dual-language immersion programs are often focused on the primary grades and that such programs may continue for five to seven years but optimally throughout grades K-12.; a~~Also see the accompanying administrative regulation.

For further information and recommendations regarding dual-language immersion programs, see CSBA's governance brief English Learners in Focus, Issue 2: The Promise of Two-Way Immersion Programs.

The district may establish a dual-language immersion program that provides integrated language learning and academic instruction for native speakers of English and native speakers of another language, with the goals of high academic achievement, first and second language proficiency, and cross-cultural understanding. (Education Code 305-306)

Note: Pursuant to Education Code 60119, as a condition of receiving funds for instructional materials from any state source, the Governing Board is required to hold a public hearing to determine, **through a resolution**, whether each student **in the district** has sufficient textbooks and/or instructional materials in specified subjects, including **foreign world** language, that are aligned to the state content standards or curriculum frameworks; see BP 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials.

The Board shall ensure that students have access to high-quality instructional materials in world languages. In accordance with Board policy, teachers shall be encouraged to identify and use supplemental resources, such as literature, technology, newspapers and other media, dictionaries, and volunteers from the community to enhance the world language instructional program.

(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance)

(cf. 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials)

(cf. 6161.11 - Supplementary Instructional Materials)

(cf. 6163.1 - Library Media Centers)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide professional development as necessary to ensure that teachers of world languages have the knowledge and skills they need to implement an effective instructional program that helps students attain academic standards, **including communicative and cultural proficiency and understanding**.

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph is for use by districts that maintain one or more high schools. Education Code 51225.3 requires high school students to complete a one-year course in either **foreign world language, which includes** American Sign Language, or visual and performing arts as a condition of high school graduation; see BP 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. Pursuant to Education Code 51243-51245 and 5 CCR 1632, **foreign world language instruction completed in a private school must be granted credit toward high school graduation provided that the instruction meets specified standards and conditions; see BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation.**

~~A number of districts have chosen to present a biliteracy award upon high school graduation to students who demonstrate proficiency in speaking, reading, and writing skills in one or more languages in addition to English; see BP/AR 5126 - Awards for Achievement.~~

Students shall obtain credit toward high school graduation requirements for completion of completing one year of a one-year course in a world language or American Sign Language course during grades 9-12.

(cf. 5126 - Awards for Achievement)

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements)

(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation)

Note: A number of districts have chosen to present a biliteracy award upon high school graduation to students who demonstrate **a high level of proficiency in speaking, reading, and writing skills in one or more languages in addition to English. The California Spanish Assessment, which is part of the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress, can be used to measure a student's competency in the Spanish language and is suitable for assessing qualifications for the State Seal of Biliteracy. See the California Department of Education's California Spanish Assessment Fact Sheet.** Also see BP/AR 5126 - Awards for Achievement.

The district shall determine appropriate measures to assess student proficiency in world languages offered by district schools. Students who have attained a high level of proficiency may receive recognition for their achievement, including the State Seal of Biliteracy for students graduating from high school.

(cf. 5126 - Awards for Achievement)

Note: The following **optional** paragraph should be revised to reflect indicators agreed upon by the Board and Superintendent for evaluating the district's world/**foreign** languages instructional program.

The Superintendent or designee shall provide periodic reports to the Board regarding the effectiveness of the district's world language program which may include, but not be limited to, **whether the district's world language program is serving the grade levels required by law,** a description of the district's curriculum and the extent to which it is aligned with the state's content standards and curriculum framework, student achievement of district standards

WORLD~~FOREIGN~~ LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

for world language instruction, and student participation rates in each language course. Program evaluation shall be used to identify needed improvements and may be considered in determining the world languages to be taught in the district.

(cf. 0500 - Accountability)

(cf. 6190 - Evaluation of the Instructional Program)

*Legal Reference:*EDUCATION CODE

300-310 Education for English learners

42238.02 Local control funding formula; class size requirements

44253.1-44253.11 Qualifications of teachers of English learners

44256-44257 Credential requirements, including teachers of ~~foreign~~ world language

48980 Parental notifications

51212 Legislative intent to encourage ~~foreign~~ world language instruction in grades 1-6

51220 Courses of study, grades 7-12

51225.3 High school graduation requirements

51243-51245 Alternative credits toward graduation for ~~foreign~~ world language instruction in private school

60119 Public hearings, instructional materials

60605.3 Content standards for world language instruction

60605.5 Revision of state standards for world language instruction

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5

1632 Alternative credits toward graduation for foreign language instruction in private school

11300-11316 Multilingual and English learner education

*Management Resources:*CALIFORNIA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION CSBA PUBLICATIONS

Proposition 58 Regulations, Fact Sheet, August 2018

English Learners in Focus: The English Learner Roadmap: Providing Direction for English Learner Success, Governance Brief, February 2018

English Learners in Focus, Issue 2: The Promise of Two-Way Immersion Programs, Governance Brief, September 2014

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS

Two-Way Language Immersion Program Multilingual FAQ

World Languages Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve

California Spanish Assessment Fact Sheet, March 2019

World Languages ~~Content~~ Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, adopted January 7, 2009 2019

California English Learner Roadmap: Strengthening Comprehensive Educational Policies, Programs and Practices for English Learners, 2017

Foreign Language Framework for California Public Schools, Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve, 2003

CENTER FOR APPLIED LINGUISTICS PUBLICATIONS

Guiding Principles for Dual Language Education, Second Edition, 2007

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

Management Resources: (continued)

COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING PUBLICATIONS

CL-622 *Serving English Learners*

NATIONAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION PUBLICATIONS

21st Century Skills Map: World Languages, January 2011

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA PUBLICATIONS

A-G Policy Resource Guide

WEB SITES

CSBA: <http://www.csba.org>

American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages: <http://www.actfl.org>

California Association for Bilingual Education: <http://www.gocabe.org>

California Department of Education, Foreign World Languages: <http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/fl>

California Language Teachers' Association: <http://www.clta.net>

California Foreign World Language Project: <http://www.stanford.edu/group/CFLP>

California Language Teachers' Association: <http://www.clta.net>

Center for Applied Linguistics: <http://www.cal.org>

National Education Association, Partnership for 21st Century Skills:
<http://www.nea.org/home/34888.htm>

University of California, a-g Course Approval A-G Policy Resource Guide:
<http://www.ucop.edu/agguide>

(3/09 3/17) 7/19

CSBA Sample

Administrative Regulation

Instruction

AR 6142.2(a)

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION

Content of Instruction

Note: Items #1-53 below reflect the ~~five~~ **three** categories of content standards for world languages adopted by the State Board of Education (SBE) ~~on in January 7, 2009~~ **2019**. Within each category, the state standards describe four proficiency levels ~~or performance benchmarks~~. Education Code 60605.5, as added by AB 2290 (Ch. 643, Statutes of 2016), requires the Superintendent of Public Instruction to recommend revisions to the standards and requires the SBE to adopt, reject, or modify the recommended revisions by March 31, 2019. The revised content standards also address information literacy, technology literacy, media literacy, and emotional literacy as outlined in the National Education Association's 21st Century Skills Map.

The district may revise the following list to reflect ~~the~~ topics ~~to be~~ addressed in the district's **world language** program.

The district's instructional program for world languages shall be designed to help students gain knowledge about ~~new~~ language systems, **develop a cultural understanding**, and use that knowledge to communicate. Students shall receive instruction which is aligned with state academic standards appropriate to their age and stage of linguistic and cultural proficiency in the following categories:

1. ~~Content: Students shall be presented with a wide variety of content that is age and stage appropriate and increases in complexity.~~

(cf. 6011 Academic Standards)

- 2.1. Communication: Students shall be taught to effectively convey and receive messages by engaging in or interpreting written, spoken, and/or signed languages, **including:**

- a. **Language functions, which describe the purposes to which language is used in culturally appropriate real-world communication**
- b. **The setting in which the language is used, which includes using language both within and beyond the classroom to interact in local communities and abroad**
- c. **The structures used to convey meaning**

- 3.2. Cultures: Students shall receive instruction that allows them to ~~make connections and comparisons between language and culture~~ **interact, with competence and understanding, with those who are native to the language in a variety of real-world settings.**

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

(cf. 6142.94 - History-Social Science Instruction)

4. Structures: The curriculum shall address components of grammar, syntax, and language patterns appropriate to the language being taught.
3. Connections: Students shall receive instruction that builds, reinforces, and expands their knowledge of other disciplines using the language to develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills, and to access and evaluate information and diverse perspectives readily or only available through the language and its cultures, in order to function in real-world, academic and career-related settings.
5. Settings: To help students comprehend meaning and use language that is culturally appropriate, students shall develop knowledge of the context or setting in which language is used, such as common daily settings, interpersonal settings, and informal and formal settings.

(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards)

Dual-Language Immersion Programs

Note: The following **optional** section is for use by districts that choose to establish a dual-language immersion program integrating native English speakers and English learners in a class that is taught in both English and a second language; see the accompanying Board policy.

Effective July 1, 2017, Proposition 58 (November 2016) amended Education Code 305-310 and repealed Education Code 311 to authorize parents/guardians of English learners to select a language acquisition program that best suits their child. Districts must offer a structured English immersion program in which nearly all classroom instruction is provided in English, and may offer dual-language immersion programs or other language acquisition programs. See BP/AR 6174—Education for English Learners.

Items #1-2 below reflect program models **described** on the California Department of Education's (CDE) web site and may be revised to reflect district practice.

The district's dual-language immersion programs may be based on either or both of the following models:

1. A 50:50 model in which instruction is provided in the non-English target language for 50 percent of the time and in English for 50 percent of the time, throughout the duration of the program
2. A 90:10 model in which instruction is provided in the non-English target language for 90 percent of the time and in English for 10 percent of the time during the first year of the program, decreasing the percentage of time in the non-English language in each subsequent year until there is a 50:50 balance of languages

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners)

Note: The following two paragraphs reflect recommendations of the CDE in its "Two-Way Language Immersion Program FAQ," available on its web site, and may be revised to reflect district practice.

Native English speakers shall generally be admitted into the program only during the first grade level at which the program is offered, and English learners during the first or second grade level at which the program is offered. Bilingual students may enter the program at any time. On a case-by-case basis, the Superintendent or designee may admit a student later in the program if **he/she determines it is determined** that the student is adequately prepared for and will benefit from the program.

Note: The following paragraph reflects the recommendation of CDE in its "Multilingual FAQ," available on its web site, and may be revised to reflect district practice.

In enrolling students for the program, the district shall strive to maintain a ratio of half native English speakers and half English learners, and such ratio shall not fall below one-third for either language group except under exceptional circumstances.

Note: The following paragraph may be deleted by districts that do not offer a dual-language immersion program in any of grades K-3. Pursuant to Education Code 310, as amended by Proposition 58 (November 2016), all language acquisition programs must comply with requirements related to class size in grades K-3.

Any dual-language immersion program offered in grades K-3 shall comply with class size requirements specified in Education Code 42238.02. (Education Code 310)

(cf. 6151 - Class Size)

Note: Teachers in a class serving one or more English learners are required to possess the qualifications described in Education Code 44253.1-44253.11 and CTC leaflet CL-622, Serving English Learners. Also see AR 4112.22 - Staff Teaching English Learners.

Whenever one or more English learners are enrolled in a dual-language immersion classroom, the class shall be taught by a teacher who possesses the appropriate authorization issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing.

(cf. 4112.22 - Staff Teaching English Learners)

At the beginning of each school year or upon a student's enrollment, parents/guardians shall be provided information on the district's dual-language immersion program and other language acquisition programs available to students enrolled in the district, including, but not limited to, a description of each program. (Education Code 310)

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

WORLD/FOREIGN LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION (continued)

Note: Teachers in a class serving one or more English learners are required to possess the qualifications described in Education Code 44253.1-44253.11 and CTC leaflet CL 622, Serving English Learners. Also see AR 4112.22 – Staff Teaching English Learners.

Whenever one or more English learners are enrolled in a dual-language immersion classroom, the class shall be taught by a teacher who possesses the appropriate authorization issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing.

(cf. 4112.22 – Staff Teaching English Learners)

Note: Pursuant to 5 CCR 11311, districts are required to establish a process for schools to receive and respond to requests from parents/guardians of students enrolled in the school to establish a language acquisition program other than, or in addition to, programs available at the school. When the request is for a dual-language immersion program, requests from parents/guardians of enrolled students who are native speakers of English shall be considered along with requests from parents/guardians of English learners in determining whether the threshold has been met to require district response. See AR 6174 - Education for English Learners.

If a school does not currently offer a dual-language immersion program but the parents/guardians of 30 or more students at the school, or 20 or more students at the same grade level, request the establishment of such a program, the district shall determine whether it is possible to offer such a program in accordance with 5 CCR 11311.

(3/09 3/17) 7/19